DEPARTAMENT DE MATEMÀTICA APLICADA



Dynamics of strongly continuous semigroups associated to certain differential equations

TESI DOCTORAL REALITZADA PER:

Javier Aroza Benlloch

DIRIGIDA PER:

Elisabetta Maria Mangino Alfred Peris Manguillot

VALÈNCIA, Juliol de 2015

DEPARTAMENT DE MATEMÀTICA APLICADA





Dynamics of strongly continuous semigroups associated to certain differential equations

TESI DOCTORAL REALITZADA PER:

Javier Aroza Benlloch

DIRIGIDA PER:

Elisabetta Maria Mangino Alfred Peris Manguillot

VALÈNCIA, Juliol de 2015

		Als meus pares		
		Ja saps que a tu		
			iii	

Agradecimientos

Podría empezar y acabar como decía Charles Bukowski en *Post office* (Cartero, 1971): "Esto se presenta como un libro de ficción y no está dedicado a nadie". En cambio, no podía dejar pasar la oportunidad de agradecer su tiempo y paciencia a toda esa gente que ha compartido conmigo este periodo de mi vida.

En primer lugar, me gustaría agradecer de todo corazón el apoyo de mis directores de tesis Alfred Peris y Elisabetta Mangino, sin vosotros no hubiera sido posible. Por su atención, dedicación y por tener siempre la puerta abierta para mí. Ha sido un privilegio trabajar con ellos; me llevo muchas cosas en lo personal y profesional. También quería tener unas palabras para el profesor José Bonet, él sabe que esta aventura la empecé por él. No podía ignorar una llamada de una persona de su trayectoria para realizar uno de mis sueños, ser doctor en matemáticas, en parte, también se lo debía. Debo agradecerle esa oportunidad y los buenos ratos pasados en el IUMPA, fue una lástima que nuestros caminos se separaran.

Como no, tengo que dar las gracias a todos los miembros del IUMPA y al Departament d'Anàlisi Matemàtica de la Universitat de València porque tuve un ambiente de trabajo envidiable, grandes profesionales y mejores personas. Máxime a Manolo, Domingo, Antonio Galbis, Carmina, Enrique Sánchez, Cala y David. Sus motivaciones y cercanía hacían todo más fácil. Mención especial para Minerva y Félix, por su paciencia con los doctorandos y sus gestiones administrativas (o malabares, según se mire). A Alberto por su cercanía, predisposición desinteresada y por lo que está por venir.

No podían faltar mis compañeros de estudios. Que decir de Xavier Barrachina y Javi Falcó, los emigrantes del grupo, os deseo lo mejor y que volváis pronto y con trabajo. Orlando con el que disfruté mucho durante el máster, junto con Javi no he podido tener mejor compañía. A María José Beltrán, de las mejores personas que conozco, se lo merece todo y si se lo propone no tendrá techo. A Carme y Juanmi por las risas compartidas. A Marina, terremoto y brillantez a partes iguales, me has hecho pasar buenos ratos.

I would like to thank my supervisor Elisabetta for the opportunity to be in Lecce during my stay and her support, certainly it changed my life. She, together with professor Angela Albanese and PhD students Paola, Antonella, Raffaele and Valerio made me feel at home. It was the first time I came out of Spain and were the happiest months of my life.

I would also like to thank professors Leonhard Frerick and Thomas Kalmes for their hospitality and time during my stay in Trier, a very comfortable place. It was a brief stay but very fruitful, as it is shown in Chapter 1.

A esas personas que han sido una parte importante de mi vida durante la carrera, ellas saben quién son. En especial a Quique, un hermano para mí, a Manuel y a Yassid sin los que mi camino por la universidad no hubiera sido igual.

Quiero dar las gracias a todo el grupo de Terminal Polivalente de Castellón por acogerme en medio de mi tesis doctoral. En particular, a José María García y José Manuel Gimeno por darme la oportunidad de conocer el mundo naval. Gracias a su consideración tuve tiempo para acabar esta tesis compaginándola con el trabajo, en parte, también se lo debo. Por supuesto, a mis compañeros Nacho e Iñaki, creo que no podría tener mejor compañía. A Laura e Ignacio que me han echado un cable cuando se lo he pedido. En definitiva, a todos los compañeros. Esos "-¡Buenos días planner!... Buenos días resto de mortales." de David o esos "-¡Espabila!" de Jorge, siempre arrancan una sonrisa.

Es el turno de las personas a las que más quiero y que más han sufrido mis altibajos: mi familia. Sin ellos no hubiera estudiado lo que quería, ni decidido, ni vivido con la libertad que todo el mundo merece. A mis padres, que les debo todo y nunca podré pagarles lo que han hecho por mí. A mis hermanos y cuñado por su paciencia y por siempre estar ahí cuando se les ha necesitado. A mis tíos, Tomás y Maite por su comprensión y complicidad. A mis primos Maite y Pau y a mi sobrino, a los que he visto crecer y siempre han sido los que más sonrisas me han arrancado y disfrutado. Este trabajo está dedicado a ellos.

También a mis amigos de toda la vida, a los que tengo que pedir disculpas porque todo el tiempo empleado en esto siempre ha sido el suyo. Quien me conoce sabe que he dedicado mucho tiempo y entrega para sacar esto adelante sacrificando prácticamente mi vida social, espero recompensarles como se merecen.

Por último, y no menos importante, agradecerte a ti por ser el pilar y soporte en el que me he apoyado todo este tiempo. Has hecho posible que levantara la cabeza cada vez que la bajaba. Viniste a buscarme y me encontraste, gracias.

Nules, a 30 de julio de 2015 Javier Aroza Benlloch Aquesta memòria ha estat elaborada en l'Institut Universitari de Matemàtica Pura i Aplicada (IUMPA) de la Universitat Politècnica de València, durant el període de gaudi d'un contracte com a personal investigador en el projecte "Análisis funcional, teoría de operadores y aplicaciones", Programa Prometeu per a grups d'investigació d'excel·lència (PROMETEO/2008/101, Generalitat Valenciana) durant el període 2009-2012, i una beca de movilitat per estudiants en Programes de Doctorat amb l'Esment cap a l'Excel· lència, referència MHE2011-00201, per tal d'optar al grau de Doctor amb menció "Doctor Internacional" fent una estada en el estranger durant l'any 2012.

La beca d'estada ha permés a l'autor realitzar una estada d'investigació de 3 mesos a Lecce, Itàlia (febrer-abril de 2012) dirigida per la professora Elisabetta Maria Mangino.

Aquesta investigació també ha estat finançada parcialment pels projectes: "Operadores y C_0 -semigrupos de operadores hipercíclicos y caóticos" (GV/2010/091, Generalitat Valenciana) i "Dinámica, Atractores y Nolinealidad: Caos y Estabilidad" (MTM2011-13793-E, Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación).

Resumen

La presente memoria "Dinámica de semigrupos fuertemente continuos asociadas a ciertas ecuaciones diferenciales" es analizar, desde el punto de vista del análisis funcional, la dinámica de las soluciones de ecuaciones de evolución lineales. Estas soluciones pueden ser representadas por semigrupos fuertemente continuos en espacios de Banach de dimensión infinita. El objetivo de nuestra investigación es proporcionar condiciones globales para obtener caos, en el sentido de Devaney, y propiedades de estabilidad de semigrupos fuertemente continuos, los cuales son soluciones de ecuaciones de evolución lineales.

Este trabajo está compuesto de tres capítulos principales. El Capítulo 0 es introductorio y define la terminología básica y notación usada, además de presentar los resultados básicos que usaremos a lo largo de esta tesis. Los Capítulos 1 y 2 describen, de forma general, un semigrupo fuertemente continuo inducido por un semiflujo en espacios de Lebesgue y en espacios de Sobolev, los cuales son solución de una ecuación diferencial lineal en derivadas parciales de primer orden. Además, algunas caracterizaciones de las principales propiedades dinámicas, incluyendo hiperciclicidad, mezclante, débil mezclante, caos y estabilidad, se obtienen a lo largo de estos capítulos. El Capítulo 3 describe las propiedades dinámicas de una ecuación en diferencias basada en el llamado modelo de nacimiento-muerte y analiza las condiciones previamente probadas para este modelo, mejorándolas empleando una estrategia diferente.

La finalidad de esta tesis es caracterizar propiedades dinámicas para este tipo de semigrupos fuertemente continuos de forma general, cuando sea posible, y extender estos resultados a otros espacios. A lo largo de esta memoria, estos resultados son comparados con los resultados previos dados por varios autores en años recientes.

Resum

La present memòria "Dinàmica de semigrups fortament continus associats a certes equacions diferencials" és analitzar, des del punt de vista de l'anàlisi funcional, la dinàmica de les solucions d'equacions d'evolució lineals. Aquestes solucions poden ser representades per semigrups fortament continus en espais de Banach de dimensió infinita. L'objectiu de la nostra investigació es proporcionar condicions globals per obtenir caos, en el sentit de Devaney, i propietats d'estabilitat de semigrups fortament continus, els quals són solucions d'equacions d'evolució lineals.

Aquest treball està compost de tres capítols principals. El Capítol 0 és introductori i defineix la terminologia bàsica i notació utilitzada, a més de presentar els resultats bàsics que utilitzarem al llarg d'aquesta tesi. Els Capítols 1 i 2 descriuen, de forma general, un semigrup fortament continu induït per un semiflux en espais de Lebesgue i en espais de Sobolev, els quals són solució d'una equació diferencial lineal en derivades parcials de primer ordre. A més, algunes caracteritzacions de les principals propietats dinàmiques, incloent-hi hiperciclicitat, mesclant, dèbil mesclant, caos i estabilitat, s'obtenen al llarg d'aquests capítols. El Capítol 3 descrivís les propietats dinàmiques d'una equació en diferències basada en el model de naixement-mort i analitza les condicions prèviament provades per aquest model, millorant-les utilitzant una estratègia diferent.

La finalitat d'aquesta tesi és caracteritzar propietats dinàmiques d'aquest tipus de semigrups fortament continus de forma general, quan siga possible, i estendre aquests resultats a altres espais. Al llarg d'aquesta memòria, aquests resultats són comparats amb els resultats previs obtinguts per diversos autors en anys recents.

Summary

The purpose of the Ph.D. Thesis "Dynamics of strongly continuous semigroups associated to certain differential equations" is to analyse, from the point of view of functional analysis, the dynamics of solutions of linear evolution equations. These solutions can be represented by a strongly continuous semigroup on an infinite-dimensional Banach space. The aim of our research is to provide global conditions for chaos, in the sense of Devaney, and stability properties of strongly continuous semigroups which are solutions of linear evolution equations.

This work is composed of three principal chapters. Chapter 0 is introductory and defines basic terminology and notation used, besides presenting the basic results that we will use throughout this thesis. Chapters 1 and 2 describe, in general way, a strongly continuous semigroup induced by a semiflow in Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces which is a solution of a linear first order partial differential equation. Moreover, some characterizations of the main dynamical properties, including hypercyclicity, mixing, weakly mixing, chaos and stability are given along these chapters. Chapter 3 describes the dynamical properties of a difference equation based on the so-called birth-and-death model and analyses the conditions previously proven for this model improving them by employing a different strategy.

The goal of this thesis is to characterize dynamical properties of these kind of strongly continuous semigroups in a general way, whenever possible, and to extend these results to another spaces. Along this memory, these findings are compared with the previous ones given by many authors in recent years.

Contents

Ir	troduction	1
0	Preliminaries	5
	0.1 General framework and notation	5
	0.1.1 Reminder of spectral theory	5
	0.1.2 Functional spaces	6
	0.1.3 Vector valued holomorphic functions	8
	0.2 Strongly continuous semigroups	8
	0.3 Topological dynamics and strongly continuous semigroups	10
	0.4 Semiflows	14
	0.5 Some auxiliary results	17
1	Chaos for semiflow semigroups in Lebesgue spaces	21
	1.1 State of the art	22
	1.2 Chaotic dynamics on Lebesgue spaces	24
	1.3 Chaotic dynamics on Sobolev spaces	39
	1.4 The Lasota equation	49
	1.4.1 von Foerster-Lasota equation	49
	1.4.2 Generalization of von Foerster-Lasota equation	53

2	Stable semiflow semigroups in Lebesgue spaces	59
	2.1 State of the art	60
	2.2 Multidimensional case on Lebesgue spaces	61
	2.3 One-dimensional case on Lebesgue spaces	63
	2.4 Stability on Sobolev spaces	70
	2.5 The Lasota equation	72
	2.5.1 von Foerster-Lasota equation	72
	2.5.2 Generalized von Foerster-Lasota equation	74
3	Chaotic behaviour of birth-and-death models	77
3	Chaotic behaviour of birth-and-death models 3.1 State of the art	77 78
3		
3	3.1 State of the art	78 78
3	3.1 State of the art	78 78 79
3	3.1 State of the art	78 78 79 80

Introduction

Many authors have recently demonstrated an interest in dynamical properties of strongly continuous semigroups, in short C_0 -semigroups, associated to dynamical linear systems. Several techniques have been used in different fields as Ergodic and Operator Theory, Strongly-mixing measures with full support or Distributional and Devaney chaos, see [1, 14, 16, 21, 22, 30, 38, 56, 57]. In practice, these dynamical linear systems are usually related to evolution equations which can be represented by first order partial differential equations or difference equations.

The origin of these studies lies in Operator Theory, particularly in investigations of the behaviour of the powers of a single operator. Birkhoff's Transitivity Theorem (1922, [24]) gives an equivalence between topological transitivity of an operator and the existence of hypercyclic vectors, defined by Beauzamy in 1987 ([18]). In 1989, Robert L. Devaney ([39]) introduced the notion of chaos for single operators, composed by the existence of a hypercyclic vector and of a dense set of periodic points and the well known "butterfly effect".

Desch, Schappacher and Webb ([38]) studied the notions of hypercyclicity and chaos for linear semigroups in a general way. These authors established the equivalence between hypercyclicity and topological transitivity in this context. They provided some criteria based on the infinitesimal generator of a semigroup and applied these results to some linear partial differential equations. Moreover, they characterized hypercyclicity and chaos for translation semigroups and discrete shifts. These semigroups were used, as a first step, to test certain criteria and dynamical properties, see [13, 28, 32, 33, 34, 52, 53, 54].

Chapter 0 introduces basic definitions of semigroup theory and dynamical properties, emphasizing different Banach spaces used in this memory and some useful properties and auxiliary results. In particular, we recall the notion of semiflow in order to describe a special kind of C_0 -semigroups studied by Kalmes in [45, 46]. Semigroups as the solution of Lasota equation, analysed in depth by Dawidowicz, Brzeźniak and Poskrobko ([27, 36]), are particular cases of the semigroups used by

2 Introduction

Kalmes. This type of C_0 -semigroups have an admissible weight directly related to Desch et al. results.

Motivated by the work of Dawidowicz, et al. about dynamical properties of Lasota equation on Lebesgue and Hoelder spaces we try to characterize, in Chapters 1 and 2, when these properties occur. Lasota equation, introduced by Lasota and Mackey in [50], is related to the dynamical behaviour of blood cell populations. Dawidowicz, et al. study this equation assuming different hypotheses on its coefficients. A simple version called von Foerster-Lasota equation is the following:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \, t} u(t,x) + x \frac{\partial}{\partial \, x} u(t,x) = \gamma \, u(t,x), \quad t \geq 0, \, 0 < x < 1$$

with the initial condition

$$u(0,x) = v(x), 0 < x < 1,$$

where v is a given function.

Particularly, this equation is interesting if we observe the "complementary" behaviour of the solution $u(t,x)=e^{\gamma t}v(xe^{-t})$, which describes a C_0 -semigroup in the Lebesgue space $L^p(0,1)$, $1\leq p<\infty$. To be specific, this semigroup is chaotic if and only if it is not stable if and only if $\gamma>-1/p$ or, analogously, it is stable if and only if it is not chaotic (in particular, not hypercyclic) if and only if $\gamma\leq -1/p$. A generalized version of this equation was introduced by Dawidowicz, et al., improving the model and conserving the "complementary" behaviour, for example replacing γ by a suitable function.

Developing this idea still further, in Chapters 1 and 2 we characterize the principal dynamical properties as chaos and stability for Kalmes's C_0 -semigroups. These results show, as particular case, the previous ones given by Dawidowicz et al. In parallel, they obtain new results improving their own conditions in [26, 37]. We can observe in these findings similarities with our research or with the results given by Kalmes in [45] for the multidimensional case. Specifically, we study on Chapter 1 the chaotic behaviour of these C_0 -semigroups on Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces. We compare our conditions with the previous ones provided by Dawidowicz et al. and Desch et al. On Chapter 2 we focus on stability properties following the same lines of the previous chapter. We try to show if the "complementary" behaviour always happens as Kalmes suggested us.

The contents of Chapter 1 have been published in [3] and the contents of Chapter 2 have been included in [4].

In the last chapter, we change the first order linear partial differential equations by models based on a difference equations. Singularly, we study the birth-and-death models which describe evolution families of cells populations like cancer cells. In

Introduction 3

1992 Azmy and Protopopescu ([58]) considered this models and gave conditions under which the solution semigroup is chaotic or stable. Banasiak et al. in [7, 9, 11] improved these models, first separating this model in their birth and death parts and later with the joined model case. The joined model case can be represented by,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \frac{df_1}{dt} & = & af_1 + df_2, \\ \\ \frac{df_n}{dt} & = & bf_{n-1} + af_n + df_{n+1}, & n \ge 2, \end{array}$$

where the coefficients are real constants.

In this case the authors show that if 0 < |b| < |d| and |a| < |b+d| then the solution C_0 -semigroup in ℓ^p is chaotic. In this case, if we assume |d| < |b| we lose the chaotic property. As in the previous chapters, the key is on the assumptions of the coefficients. We generalize this model assuming non-constant coefficients and improving, in part, the results given by Banasiak, Lachowicz and Moszyński. We focus in a special Banach space that assures the existence of a solution C_0 -semigroup of this model, based on the spectral radius of its generator and considering two general cases: sequences of bounded or unbounded coefficients.

The contents of Chapter 3 were published in [5].

Chapter 0

Preliminaries

This chapter is dedicated to establish the basis of the thesis, with the main definitions and notation that we will use throughout it. We refer as basic reference on functional analysis, measure theory and complex analysis to [25, 59].

0.1 General framework and notation

0.1.1 Reminder of spectral theory

Let X be a Banach space on \mathbb{C} and let $A:D(A)\subset X\to X$ be a closed, linear operator on X, denoting by D(A) its domain of definition.

We call $\rho(A) := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda - A : D(A) \to X \text{ is bijective} \}$ the resolvent set of A. Its complement $\sigma(A) := \mathbb{C} \setminus \rho(A)$ is called the *spectrum* of A and its *spectral radius* is defined by $r(A) := \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(A)} |\lambda|$.

The point spectrum of A is $P_{\sigma}(A) := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda - A \text{ is not injective }\}$, where $\lambda \in P_{\sigma}(A)$ is called an eigenvalue. Each $0 \neq x \in D(A)$ satisfying $(\lambda - A)x = 0$ is an eigenvector of A associated to λ .

0.1.2 Functional spaces

We denote by λ the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} and by λ^d the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d for every $d \in \mathbb{N}$, $d \geq 2$. If Ω is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d , $1 \leq p < \infty$, $\rho : \Omega \to (0, +\infty)$ is a λ^d -measurable function, and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} , we set

$$L^p_\rho(\Omega,\mathbb{K}) := \left\{ u: \Omega \to \mathbb{K} \mid \text{u measurable, } \int_\Omega |u(x)|^p \rho(x) dx < \infty \right\}.$$

For $p = \infty$ we set

$$\begin{split} L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{K}) &= \left\{ u : \Omega \to \mathbb{K} \mid \exists K > 0 \mid u | \leq K \ \lambda^{d} \text{-a.e.} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ u : \Omega \to \mathbb{K} \mid \exists K > 0 \mid u | \leq K \ \rho \cdot \lambda^{d} \text{-a.e.} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Endowed with the norm

$$||u||_{p,\rho} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |u(x)|^p \rho(x) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

respectively,

$$||u||_{\infty} = \inf \{K > 0 : |u| \le K\},$$

 $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$ is a Banach space on \mathbb{K} . If $\rho = 1$, we write simply $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$. Observe that for $1 the topological dual of <math>L^p_{\rho}(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$ is $L^q_{\rho}(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$, where q is the conjugate exponent of p, while the dual of $L^1_{\rho}(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$ is $L^\infty(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$.

We will write $L_{\rho}^{p}(\Omega)$ if there is no need to specify the field \mathbb{K} .

Let I=(a,b) be a bounded open interval of $\mathbb R$. For $1\leq p<\infty$ we denote as usual by $W^{1,p}(I)$ the first order Sobolev space of p-integrable functions on I, i.e.

$$W^{1,p}(I) = \{ u \in L^p(I); u' \in L^p(I) \},\$$

where u' denotes the distributional derivative of u. Endowed with the norm

$$||u||_{1,n} = ||u||_n + ||u'||_n$$

 $W^{1,p}(I)$ is a Banach space. It holds that $W^{1,p}(I) \subseteq C[a,b]$ and that for any $x \in [a,b]$ the point evaluation δ_x in x is a continuous linear form on $W^{1,p}(I)$. We are interested in the following closed subspace of $W^{1,p}(I)$,

$$W_*^{1,p}(I) := \ker \delta_a.$$

From the boundedness of I we have the topological direct sum

$$W^{1,p}(I) = W_*^{1,p}(I) \oplus \text{span} \{11\},$$

where 1 denotes the constant function with value 1.

First, we show a result that appears on [63, Lemma 1.2.5] originally proved on [55, pp. 313-315]. This is a tool, called mollifier, to approximate a function which is not smooth by sufficient smooth ones.

Let φ be a function, belonging to $C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$, such that $\varphi(x) \geq 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) dx = 1$. Put $\varphi_\delta(x) = \delta^{-n} \varphi(x/\delta)$. For $u \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, that is, for u which is absolutely integrable on every compact set of \mathbb{R}^n , we define

$$(\varphi_{\delta} * u)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_{\delta}(x - y)u(y)dy.$$

If $u \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is uniformly continuous, then as $\delta \to 0$ the function $\varphi_\delta * u$ converges uniformly to u. If $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 \le p < \infty$, then $\varphi_\delta * u$ converges strongly to u in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as $\delta \to 0$. Furthermore, the following lemma holds.

Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we say that $g \in B^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if g is bounded with continuous bounded derivative on \mathbb{R}^n .

Lemma 0.1.1 For $1 \leq p < \infty$, $g \in B^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, i.e., bounded with continuous bounded derivative on \mathbb{R}^n and $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we define

$$C_{\delta}u = \varphi_{\delta} * \left(g\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{j}}\right) - g\left(\varphi_{\delta} * \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{j}}\right) = \left[\varphi_{\delta} * g\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}\right]u,$$

where the differentiation $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ is to be understood in the sense of distribution. Then

- (i) $C_{\delta}u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and there exists a constant C, independent of δ and u, such that $\|C_{\delta}u\|_p \leq C \|u\|_p$,
- (ii) $C_{\delta}u$ converges strongly to 0 in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as $\delta \to 0$.

Ending with Banach spaces, we denote by $\ell^p := \ell^p(Y)$ the space of sequences $y := (y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $y_n \in Y$ and its norm $\|y\|_p := \left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} |y_n|^p\right)^p$ are bounded. Observe that we can take Y any Banach space or vector space depending of its application.

0.1.3 Vector valued holomorphic functions

Let X be a Banach space on \mathbb{C} and let E be a vector space over \mathbb{C} . A map $f: U \to X$ on an open set $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ is weakly holomorphic if the map $\lambda \mapsto \langle f(\lambda), \phi \rangle$ is holomorphic for every functional $\phi \in X^*$, where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the inner product.

A subset U of E is said to be *finitely open* if $U \cap F$ is open in the Euclidean topology of F for each finite-dimensional subspace F of E.

Let U be a finitely open subset of E and let F be a locally convex space. We call $f: U \subset E \to F$ Gâteaux or \mathcal{G} -holomorphic if for each $\xi \in U$, $\eta \in E$ and $\phi \in F'$ the complex valued function of one complex variable

$$\nu \to \phi \circ f(\xi + \nu \eta)$$

is holomorphic on some neighbourhood of 0 in \mathbb{C} .

Let U and E as above and let F be a locally convex space over \mathbb{C} . We call f Gâteaux differentiable if for each $\xi \in U$ and each v in E and being $v \in \mathbb{C}$

$$df(\xi)(v) := \lim_{\nu \to 0} \frac{f(\xi + \nu v) - f(\xi)}{\nu}$$

exists in the completion of F.

If U is a finitely open subset of a vector space E and F is a locally convex space then the notions of $f:U\to F$ Gâteaux differentiable and $\mathcal G$ -holomorphic are equivalent.

0.2 Strongly continuous semigroups

We recall in this section some basic definitions and properties of C_0 -semigroups, referring to [42] for further information and notation.

Throughout this section, let X be a Banach space.

Definition 0.2.1 A C_0 -semigroup is a one-parameter family $\mathcal{T} := (T(t))_{t \geq 0}$ of bounded linear operators on X satisfying the following conditions

- (i) T(0) = I,
- (ii) T(t)T(s) = T(t+s) for all $t, s \ge 0$,
- (iii) $\lim_{s\to t} T(s)x = T(t)x$ for all $x\in X$ and $t\geq 0$.

Every C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} is exponentially bounded, indeed there exist constants $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ and $M \geq 1$ such that

$$||T(t)|| \leq Me^{\omega t}$$
, for all $t \geq 0$.

Definition 0.2.2 The generator $A: D(A) \subseteq X \to X$ of a C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} on X is the operator defined by

$$Ax := \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (T(t)x - x)$$

for every x in its maximal domain

$$D(A) = \{ x \in X : \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (T(t)x - x) \text{ exists} \}.$$

Proposition 0.2.3 For the generator (A, D(A)) of a strongly continuous semi-group \mathcal{T} , the following properties hold.

- (i) $A: D(A) \subseteq X \to X$ is a closed and densely defined linear operator.
- (ii) If $x \in D(A)$, then $T(t)x \in D(A)$ and

$$\frac{d}{dx}T(t)x = T(t)Ax = AT(t)x$$
, for all $t \ge 0$.

The Hille-Yosida theorem characterizes the operators (A, D(A)) that are generators of C_0 -semigroups. In the case that A is a bounded linear operator on X, in short $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, then A generates an uniformly continuous semigroup (i.e., continuous with respect to the norm in $\mathcal{L}(X)$) given by

$$T(t) = e^{tA} := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^n A^n}{n!}, t \ge 0.$$

By the point spectral mapping theorem for semigroups with X complex Banach space, if $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a C_0 -semigroup with generator (A, D(A)) and $Ax = \lambda x$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}, x \in X$, then $T(t)x = e^{\lambda t}x$.

In order to describe the elements of D(A), we will use the following concept.

Definition 0.2.4 A subspace D of the domain D(A) of a linear operator A: $D(A) \subseteq X \to X$ is called a *core* for A if D is dense in D(A) for the graph norm

$$||x||_A := ||x|| + ||Ax||.$$

Clearly, if (A, D(A)) is closed and D is a core for A then the closure of $(A|_D, D)$ is (A, D(A)).

We recall that a subspace $Y \subset X$ is \mathcal{T} -invariant or invariant under \mathcal{T} if $T(t)Y \subseteq Y$ for all $t \geq 0$.

Proposition 0.2.5 Let (A, D(A)) be the generator of a C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} on X. If a subspace D of D(A) is $\|\cdot\|$ -dense in X and invariant under \mathcal{T} , it is always a core for A.

Given the generator of a C_0 -semigroup, we can ask under which conditions an additive perturbation generates a new semigroup. The Bounded Perturbation Theorem provides an answer. For its proof see, for example, [42, Chapter III].

Theorem 0.2.6 (Bounded Perturbation Theorem) Let (A, D(A)) be the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T} := (T(t))_{t>0}$ on a Banach space X satisfying

$$||T(t)|| \leq Me^{\omega t}$$
 for all $t \geq 0$ and some $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$, $M \geq 1$.

If B is a bounded linear operator on X, then C := A + B with D(C) := D(A) generates a C_0 -semigroup $S := (S(t))_{t \geq 0}$ satisfying

$$||S(t)|| \le Me^{(\omega + M||B||)t}$$
 for all $t > 0$.

Moreover, for every $t \geq 0$

$$S(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n(t),$$

where $S_0(t) := T(t)$ and

$$S_{n+1}(t) := \int_0^t T(t-s)BS_n(s)ds, \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

0.3 Topological dynamics and strongly continuous semigroups

We recall in this section the notions of hypercyclicity, transitivity, chaos, mixing and weakly mixing properties for C_0 -semigroups. All these properties where originally defined for the behaviour of the powers of a single operator, and, since the seminal paper [38], they have been widely studied also for semigroups. We refer to the recent monographs [17, 44] for a complete introduction to this topic.

Throughout this section let X be an infinite-dimensional separable Banach space. Separability is necessary because hypercyclicity implies that the space has to be separable.

Definition 0.3.1 Let \mathcal{T} be a C_0 -semigroup on X.

- (i) \mathcal{T} is called topologically transitive if, for any pair U, V of nonempty open subsets of X, there exists some $t_0 \geq 0$ such that $T(t_0)U \cap V \neq \emptyset$.
- (ii) \mathcal{T} is said to be *mixing* if, for any pair U, V of nonempty open subsets of X, there exists some $t_0 \geq 0$ such that $T(t)U \cap V \neq \emptyset$ for all $t \geq t_0$.
- (iii) \mathcal{T} is called weakly mixing if $(T(t) \oplus T(t))_{t \geq 0}$ is topologically transitive on $X \oplus X$.
- (iv) \mathcal{T} is hypercyclic if there exist $x \in X$, called hypercyclic vector, such that its orbit $\{T(t)x : t \geq 0\}$ is dense in X.
- (v) \mathcal{T} is *chaotic* or *Devaney chaotic* if it is hypercyclic and the set of its periodic points $Per(\mathcal{T}) = \{x \in X; \exists t > 0 : T(t)x = x\}$ is dense in X.

On a linear dynamical system, like ours, (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) \Rightarrow (i) \Leftrightarrow (iv) \Leftarrow (v).

Remark 0.3.2 The definition of chaos by Robert L. Devaney was given in terms of the "butterfly effect" or sensitive dependence on initial conditions, density of periodic points and transitivity. Later, Banks, Brooks, et al. ([12]) proved that for a continuous function on a metric space, topological transitivity and the density of the set of periodic points imply sensitive dependence on initial conditions. On the other hand, by adapting the proof of Birkhoff's Transitivity Theorem, it follows that transitivity and hypercyclicity are equivalent for a C_0 -semigroup (see [44], reference). This justify the definition, originally given by Godefroy and Shapiro [43] for a single operator, that appears in Definition 0.3.1-(v).

Another notion related to chaos was established by Banasiak and Moszyński ([10]) used primarily for invariant and closed subspaces.

Definition 0.3.3 Let \mathcal{T} be a C_0 -semigroup on X. We say that \mathcal{T} is *sub-chaotic* if there exists a non trivial closed subspace $Y \subset X$ invariant under \mathcal{T} , such that $\mathcal{S} = (T(t)_{|Y})_{t \geq 0}$ is a chaotic C_0 -semigroup in Y.

Remark 0.3.4 ([10]) Each chaotic C_0 -semigroup is also sub-chaotic. Any subspace with chaotic behaviour has infinite dimension.

Finally we recall the definition of stable C_0 -semigroup.

Definition 0.3.5 Let \mathcal{T} be a C_0 -semigroup on X.

- (i) \mathcal{T} is stable or strongly stable if $\lim_{t\to+\infty} ||T(t)x|| = 0$, for all $x\in X$.
- (ii) \mathcal{T} is said to be exponentially stable if there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} e^{\varepsilon t} \|T(t)\| = 0.$$

By the definition, it is clear that stable C_0 -semigroup cannot be hypercyclic.

Quasi-conjugate were introduced in order to transfer dynamical properties of a dynamical system to another (see [44, Definition 1.5]).

Definition 0.3.6 Let \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{S} be a C_0 -semigroups on a Banach spaces Y and X respectively. We say that \mathcal{S} is quasi-conjugate to \mathcal{T} if there is a continuous mapping $\phi: Y \to X$ with dense range such that $\phi \circ T(t) = S(t) \circ \phi$ for every $t \geq 0$.

 \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{S} are said to be *conjugate*, if the above ϕ is a homeomorphism.

It is immediate that all the dynamical properties are preserved under conjugacy, while stability is preserved under quasi-conjugacy for bounded semigroups. Moreover, we can assure that all the rest of dynamical properties are preserved under quasi-conjugacy, see for example [44, Proposition 7.7] for the proof of all the dynamical properties except stability. We will only prove this result for stability property of bounded semigroups to complete this result ([4]).

Proposition 0.3.7 (Comparison test) The properties hypercyclicity (transitivity), (weakly) mixing and (sub-)chaos are preserved under quasi-conjugacy. Stability is preserved under quasi-conjugacy for bounded semigroups.

Proof. Let \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{S} be quasi-conjugate bounded C_0 -semigroups on Banach spaces Y and X respectively, via $\Phi: Y \to X$, and assume that \mathcal{T} is stable on Y. We will prove that \mathcal{S} is stable on X. Let $M = \sup_{t>0} ||S(t)||$.

Let $g \in X$ and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Since Φ is continuous with dense range, there exists $f \in Y$ such that $|g - \Phi(f)| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2M}$. Being \mathcal{T} stable, there exists $\overline{t} > 0$ such that

$$\forall\, t \geq \bar{t} \qquad ||T(t)f|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2||\Phi||}.$$

Then for every $t \geq \bar{t}$:

$$\begin{split} \|S(t)(g)\| &= \|S(t)(g - \Phi(f)) + (S(t) \circ \Phi)(f)\| \\ &\leq \|S(t)\| \ \|g - \Phi(f)\| + \|(S(t) \circ \Phi)(f)\| \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \|\Phi \circ T(t)(f)\| \leq \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

In recent years, studies of the main dynamical properties have been of interest for several authors using many different techniques (see, e.g., [19, 31, 38, 41]), some of them are based on the corresponding discrete counterparts [10, 15, 20, 23, 43].

Some of the most commonly used criteria for chaos are the following. For the details we refer the reader to original versions in [10] and [38]. A general vision of most common criteria for C_0 -semigroups are given in [44, Chapter 7, Section 4]. We denote by Id the identity operator on X.

Proposition 0.3.8 Let X be a complex separable infinite-dimensional Banach space and let (A, D(A)) be the generator of a C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} on X. Assume that there exists an open connected subset \mathcal{U} and a weakly holomorphic map $f: \mathcal{U} \to X$ such that:

- (i) $U \cap i\mathbb{R} \neq \emptyset$,
- (ii) $f(\lambda) \in \ker(\lambda Id A)$ for every $\lambda \in \mathcal{U}$,
- (iii) if for some $\phi \in X^*$ the function $h(\lambda) = \langle f(\lambda), \phi \rangle$ is identically zero on \mathcal{U} , then $\phi = 0$.

Then \mathcal{T} is chaotic and mixing.

Proposition 0.3.9 Let X be a complex separable infinite-dimensional Banach space and let (A, D(A)) be the generator of a C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} on X. Assume that there exists an open connected subset \mathcal{U} and a non-zero weakly holomorphic function $f: \mathcal{U} \to X$ such that:

- (i) $U \cap i\mathbb{R} \neq \emptyset$,
- (ii) $f(\lambda) \in \ker(\lambda Id A)$ for every $\lambda \in \mathcal{U}$.

Then the restriction of \mathcal{T} to the invariant subspace

$$X_{\mathcal{U}} := \overline{\operatorname{span}\{f(\lambda) : \lambda \in \mathcal{U}\}}$$

is chaotic and mixing. In particular, \mathcal{T} is sub-chaotic.

0.4 Semiflows

In this section we review some basic results on semiflows, referring to [2] for further information.

Definition 0.4.1 Let Ω be a topological space. A function $\varphi: [0, \infty[\times \Omega \to \Omega]]$ is said to be a *semiflow* if it is a continuous function such that $\varphi(0, \cdot) = id_{\Omega}$, $\varphi(t, \cdot) \circ \varphi(s, \cdot) = \varphi(t + s, \cdot)$ for all $t, s \geq 0$ and such that $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ is injective for all $t \geq 0$. If we let $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we call φ a *flow*.

Typical examples of semiflows are those associated with autonomous first order differential systems.

If $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ is open and $F \in C^1(\Omega)$, for every $x_0 \in \Omega$ there is a unique solution $\varphi(\cdot, x_0)$ of the initial value problem

$$\dot{x} = F(x), \ x(0) = x_0.$$
 (0.1)

Denoting its maximal domain of definition by $J(x_0)$ it is well-known that $J(x_0)$ is an open interval containing 0. Throughout this section we make the general assumption that $[0,\infty) \subset J(x_0)$ for every $x_0 \in \Omega$, i.e. $\varphi : [0,\infty) \to \Omega$.

From the uniqueness of the solution it follows that $\varphi(t,\cdot)$ is injective for every $t\geq 0$ and $\varphi(t+s,x)=\varphi(t,\varphi(s,x))$ for all $x\in\Omega$ and $s,t\in J(x)$ with $s+t\in J(x)$. Moreover, $\varphi(t,\cdot):\Omega\to\varphi(t,\Omega)$ is bijective for $t\geq 0$ and for every $t\geq 0, x\in\varphi(t,\Omega)$ and for all $s\in[0,t]$ we have $\varphi(-s,x)=\varphi(s,\cdot)^{-1}(x)$. Thus φ is a semiflow according to Definition 0.4.1.

Since F is a C^1 -function, the same is true for $\varphi(t,\cdot)$ on Ω and $\varphi(t,\cdot)^{-1}$ on $\varphi(t,\Omega)$ for every $t \geq 0$. With a slight abuse of notation we will denote by $\varphi(-t,\cdot)$ the inverse of $\varphi(t,\cdot)$.

Remark 0.4.2 If we set:

$$\Omega_0 := \{ x \in \Omega; F(x) = 0 \} \text{ and } \Omega_1 := \Omega \setminus \Omega_0.$$

The following properties are satisfied:

(i) Let $y \in \Omega_0$, then $\varphi(t,y) = y$ for all $t \ge 0$.

0.4 Semiflows 15

(ii) The uniqueness for the solutions of the initial value problem (0.1) immediately implies for Ω_0 that

$$\forall t \geq 0 : \varphi(t, \Omega_1) = \varphi(t, \Omega) \setminus \Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega_1.$$

Definition 0.4.3 A subset $M \subseteq \Omega$ is called *positively invariant under* φ if for every $x \in M$ and for every $t \in J(x_0) \cap]0, \infty[$ it holds that $\varphi(t, x) \in M$.

To assess when this property is obtained we recall [2, Theorem 16.9 and Corollary 16.10]. These results will be used to give a description of some generators, in Chapter 1.

Theorem 0.4.4 Let $X = \mathbb{R}^m$ and let $\psi \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ be such that $\nabla \psi(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in \psi^{-1}(0)$, that is, assume that 0 is a regular value of ψ . Then $M := \psi^{-1}(-\infty, 0]$ is positive invariant if and only if

$$\langle \nabla \psi(x), F(x) \rangle \le 0, \qquad \forall x \in \partial M = \psi^{-1}(0).$$

Corollary 0.4.5 Assume that $X = \mathbb{R}^m$ and let $\psi_1, \dots, \psi_k \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$. Moreover, assume that 0 is a regular value of each ψ_i , $j = 1, \dots, k$ and let

$$M := \bigcap_{j=1}^{k} \psi_j^{-1}(-\infty, 0].$$

If

$$\langle \nabla \psi_j(x), F(x) \rangle \le 0, \quad \forall x \in \psi_j^{-1}(0), \ j = 1, \dots, k$$

then M is positively invariant.

We refer to the monograph of Amann [2] for further results on this topic, in particular to Chapter II.10 and Chapter IV.16 where (semi) flows and positive invariance are studied.

Consider the following general assumptions.

General assumptions 0.4.6 As commented and to abbreviate notation, we establish:

(H1) $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$;

(H2) $F \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and φ is the flow associated with F; i.e. for every $x_0 \in \Omega$, $\varphi(\cdot, x_0) : J(x_0) \to \mathbb{R}$ is the unique solution of the initial value problem

$$\dot{x} = F(x), \ x(0) = x_0,$$

where the $J(x_0) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is the maximal domain of $\varphi(\cdot, x_0)$; It is known that $J(x_0)$ is an open interval such that $0 \in J(x_0)$.

(H3) $[0,\infty) \subset J(x_0)$ for every $x_0 \in \Omega$.

In the following consideration let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be an open set and let $\partial_2 \varphi(t,\cdot)$ denote the partial derivative of φ with respect to the second variable.

Remark 0.4.7 (i) For $x_0 \in \Omega$ we define $Z(x_0)$ to be the connected component of Ω_1 containing x_0 if $F(x_0) \neq 0$ and $Z(x_0) := \{x_0\}$ if $F(x_0) = 0$. It is well-known that $\varphi(t, Z(x_0)) \subseteq Z(x_0)$ for every $t \geq 0$, more precisely

$$\forall x_0 \in \Omega: \ \varphi([0,\infty),x_0) = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} Z(x_0) \cap [x_0,\infty) & \text{if } F(x_0) \ge 0 \\ Z(x_0) \cap (-\infty,x_0] & \text{if } F(x_0) \le 0. \end{array} \right.$$

(ii) By (i) and from the injectivity, it follows easily that $\varphi(t,\cdot):\Omega\to\Omega$ is strictly increasing for all $t\geq 0$ and thus $\varphi(-t,\cdot):\varphi(t,\Omega)\to\Omega$ is strictly increasing, too. Since

$$\forall t > 0, x \in \Omega : x = \varphi(-t, \varphi(t, x))$$

we obtain

$$\forall t \geq 0, x \in \Omega : 1 = \partial_2 \varphi(-t, \varphi(t, x)) \partial_2 \varphi(t, x)$$

so that

$$\forall t \geq 0, x \in \Omega : \partial_2 \varphi(t, x) > 0$$

as well as

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in \varphi(t, \Omega) : \partial_2 \varphi(-t, x) > 0.$$

We will take advantage of these properties. Moreover, we have the following representation of $\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)$ at our disposal which will make easier to evaluate the characterizations of the different dynamical properties of a C_0 -semigroup on $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$. This result was published in [3].

Proposition 0.4.8 Assume (H1)-(H3). Then for every $x \in \Omega$ we have

$$\forall t \ge 0: \quad \partial_2 \varphi(t, x) = \exp\left(\int_0^t F'(\varphi(s, x)) \, ds\right).$$

Moreover, for every $x \in \varphi(r, \Omega), r \geq 0$,

$$\forall t \in [0, r]: \quad \partial_2 \varphi(-t, x) = \exp\left(-\int_{-t}^0 F'(\varphi(s, x)) \, ds\right).$$

Proof. For $x \in \Omega$ we have $\partial_2 \varphi(t,x) > 0$ by hypothesis on F and Remark 0.4.7-(ii). Since F is C^1 it is well-known that $\partial_1 \partial_2 \varphi$ exists and is continuous and $\partial_2 \varphi(0,x) = 1$ for all $x \in \Omega$. Hence,

$$\forall t \ge 0: \int_0^t F'(\varphi(s,x)) \, ds = \int_0^t \frac{F'(\varphi(s,x))\partial_2 \varphi(s,x)}{\partial_2 \varphi(s,x)} \, ds = \int_0^t \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial x} (F \circ \varphi(s,\cdot))(x)}{\partial_2 \varphi(s,x)} \, ds$$

$$= \int_0^t \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \varphi(s,x)}{\partial_2 \varphi(s,x)} \, ds = \int_0^t \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \partial_2 \varphi(s,x)}{\partial_2 \varphi(s,x)} \, ds$$

$$= \ln \partial_2 \varphi(t,x) - \ln \partial_2 \varphi(0,x) = \ln \partial_2 \varphi(t,x).$$

Therefore, $\exp\left(\int_0^t F'(\varphi(s,x))\,ds\right)=\partial_2\varphi(t,x)$ for each $t\geq 0$. Now, if $x\in\varphi(r,\Omega)$ with $r\geq 0$ it follows as above for $t\in[0,r]$

$$-\int_{-t}^{0} F'(\varphi(s,x)) ds = -(\ln \partial_2 \varphi(0,x) - \ln \partial_2 \varphi(-t,x)) = \ln \partial_2 \varphi(-t,x).$$

0.5 Some auxiliary results

In this section we show some useful results associated with some techniques used throughout this thesis.

In order to characterize the stability property on Chapter 2 for $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$, where d > 1, we show an essential known lemma about w^* -convergence in $L^{\infty}_{\rho}(\Omega)$ that we state and by sake more of completeness. The interested reader is referred to [25, Chapter 3] for further information.

Definition 0.5.1 Let E be a Banach space and let $f \in E^*$, where E^* denotes the topological dual space of E. For every $x \in E$ consider the linear functional

 $\varphi_x: E^* \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $\varphi_x(f) = \langle f, x \rangle$. As x runs through E we obtain a collection $(\varphi_x)_{x \in E}$ of maps from E^* into \mathbb{R} .

The weak* topology, $\sigma(E^*, E)$, is the coarsest topology on E^* such that the maps φ_x are continuous for every $x \in E$.

The weak* topology turns to be a Hausdorff topology $\sigma(E^*, E)$. If a sequence (f_n) in E^* converges to f we shall write w^* - $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n = f$. By the definition, w^* - $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n = f$ in $\sigma(E^*, E)$ if and only if $\lim_{n\to\infty} \langle f_n, x \rangle = \langle f, x \rangle$, for all $x \in E$.

Lemma 0.5.2 Let (Ω, μ) be a σ -finite measure space and let ψ be a locally bounded function, where $\psi : [0, +\infty[\to L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mu). Then \ w^*-\lim_{t\to\infty} \psi(t) = 0$ if and only if

- (1) $\sup_{t>0} ||\psi(t)||_{\infty} < +\infty;$
- (2) for every $Q \subseteq \Omega$ with $\mu(Q) < +\infty$, it holds

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{Q} \psi(t) d\mu = 0.$$

Proof. " \Rightarrow ": (2) follows since for every $f \in L^1(\Omega, \mu)$

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi(t) f d\mu \to 0 \text{ when } t \to +\infty,$$

and this holds in particular if f is the characteristic function of a set Q with finite measure. Moreover, if w^* - $\lim_{t\to\infty}\psi(t)=0$, then for every $f\in L^1(\mu)$ there exists $\overline{t}>0$ such that

$$\sup_{t>\bar{t}}\left|\int_{\Omega}\psi(t)fd\mu\right|<+\infty.$$

Since ψ is locally bounded, it follows that

$$\sup_{t\geq 0} \left| \int_{\Omega} \psi(t) f d\mu \right| < +\infty.$$

Then, (1) follows by the Banach-Steinhaus theorem.

" \Leftarrow ": The assertion follows by approximating any $f \in L^1(\Omega,\mu)$ with suitable functions. \Box

Finally, the following lemma is a generalization of the so-called *Jury test* for quadratic polynomials, originally formulated only for $w \in \mathbb{R}$. A proof of this

result for $w \in \mathbb{C}$ can be found in [11]. For the sake of completeness, we give an alternative proof of this result published in [5].

Lemma 0.5.3 For each $r \in \mathbb{R}$, let $E_r := \{w \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1 \text{ whenever } z^2 + wz + r = 0\}$. If |r| < 1, then

$$E_r = W_r := \left\{ w \in \mathbb{C} : \left(\frac{Re \ w}{1+r} \right)^2 + \left(\frac{Im \ w}{1-r} \right)^2 < 1 \right\}.$$

Proof. Let $r \in \mathbb{R}$ with |r| < 1 and $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $z^2 + wz + r = (z - z_1)(z - z_2)$.

If r=0, the equation is $z^2+wz=0$ and, w.l.o.g., the roots are $z_1=0$ and $z_2=-w$. Thus $|w|^2=(Re\ w)^2+(Im\ w)^2=|z_2|^2$, and $E_0=W_0$.

If $r \neq 0$, we have $z_1 + z_2 = -w$ and $z_1 z_2 = r$. Then there exist $r_i \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$, i = 1, 2, and $\theta \in [0, 2\pi[$, such that $z_1 = r_1 e^{i\theta}$ and $z_2 = r_2 e^{-i\theta}$. We consider the following cases:

Case 1: $r \in]0,1[$. Without loss of generality we can assume that r_1 and r_2 are real positive numbers, otherwise we can select another θ . Note that

$$(|z_i| < 1, i = 1, 2)$$
 if, and only if, $(r_i \in]r, 1[, i = 1, 2)$.

If $r_i \in]r$, 1[, i = 1, 2, since $-w = z_1 + z_2 = (r_1 + r_2)\cos(\theta) + i(r_1 - r_2)\sin(\theta)$, and the inequality $1 + r = 1 + r_1r_2 = r_1 + [(1 - r_1) + r_1r_2] > r_1 + r_2$ hold, we obtain that

$$\left(\frac{Re\ w}{1+r}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{Im\ w}{1-r}\right)^2 = \left(\frac{r_1 + r_2}{1+r}\right)^2 \cos^2(\theta) + \left(\frac{r_1 - r_2}{1-r}\right)^2 \sin^2(\theta) < 1.$$

Conversely, if $\left(\frac{r_1+r_2}{1+r}\right)^2\cos^2(\theta)+\left(\frac{r_1-r_2}{1-r}\right)^2\sin^2(\theta)<1$ holds, without loss of generality we can suppose $r_1\leq r_2$. If $r_2\geq 1$, then $r_1\leq r<1$. This implies that $r_2-r_1\geq 1-r$, and also $1+r=r_1+[(1-r_1)+r_1r_2]\leq r_1+r_2$. This is a contradiction. So $r_2<1$, and thus $w\in E_r$.

Case 2: If $r \in]-1,0[$, then this situation can be reduced to the first case by taking into account the equalities $iW_r = W_{-r}$ and $iE_r = E_{-r}$, which are easy to compute.

20 Preliminaries

Chapter 1

Chaos for semiflow semigroups in Lebesgue spaces

In this chapter we give characterizations of chaos for C_0 -semigroups induced by semiflows on $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$, in line with the characterizations of hypercyclicity and mixing of such C_0 -semigroups proved in [46]. Moreover, we characterize hypercyclicity, mixing, and chaos for these classes of C_0 -semigroups on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ for a bounded interval $I := (a,b) \subset \mathbb{R}$ and prove that these C_0 -semigroups are never hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(I)$. We apply our results to some first order partial differential equations, such as the von Foerster-Lasota equation.

Given the present state of art, we introduce some equations which motivated us to give the first results. These mentioned results grew out of some fruitful conversations with Thomas Kalmes, who was also involved.

Such C_0 -semigroups appear in a natural way when dealing with initial value problems for linear first order partial differential operators. While characterizations of hypercyclicity, (weak) mixing, and chaos of such C_0 -semigroups where obtained for open $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ for arbitrary dimension d in [45], evaluation of these conditions in concrete examples is sometimes rather involved. In contrast to general dimension the case d=1 allows significantly simplified characterizations. In [46] these were given for hypercyclicity and mixing. In section 1.2, we give a simplified characterization of chaos for such C_0 -semigroups. Moreover, we further evaluate and extend the conditions obtained in [46].

In section 1.3 we investigate the above kind of C_0 -semigroups on the Sobolev spaces $W^{1,p}(I)$ and we characterize hypercyclicity, weakly mixing and mixing properties, and chaos on the closed subspace $W_*^{1,p}(I)$.

The contents of this chapter have been published in [3].

1.1 State of the art

Briefly we introduce the known results about some similar C_0 -semigroups in order to show the improvement achieved with the characterizations commented previously.

Consider for example the results obtained in [26, 27, 36, 37]. The references [26, 27, 36, 37] clearly show the improvement on the conditions in chronological way, and motivate the principal results of this chapter. We will return to these references in the next chapter to compare stability properties.

In the quoted references it is studied the linear von Foerster-Lasota equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t,x) + x \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}(t,x) = h(x)u(t,x) \quad t \ge 0, x \in [0,1]$$
(1.1)

with initial condition

$$u(0,x) = v(x)$$
 $x \in [0,1],$

where v belongs to a suitable function space.

The equation (1.1) is a particular case of the equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t,x)+c(x)\frac{\partial u}{\partial x}(t,x)=f(x,u(t,x)) \qquad t\geq 0, \ x\in [0,1]$$

that was introduced in [50] to describe the reproduction of a population of red blood cells, mainly in connection with studies about anemia. After the paper [49], this problem has already been studied in different function spaces by several authors either with an ergodic theoretical approach (see [60] and the references quoted therein) or by explicitly constructing hypercyclic and periodic solutions (see [27, 35, 36]), or by investigating spectral properties of the differential operator associated to the equation (1.1) (see [61, 62] and the applications in [29]).

In turns that, if $h:[0,1]\to\mathbb{C}$ is a continuous function, defining

$$T(t)v(x) = \exp\left(\int_{-t}^{0} h(xe^{s})ds\right)v(xe^{-t}), \qquad t \ge 0, \ x \in [0, 1],$$
 (1.2)

the family $\mathcal{T} = (T(t))_{t \geq 0}$ is a C_0 -semigroup in $L^p([0,1])$ with $1 \leq p < \infty$, and it gives a solution of the equation (1.1) with initial value $v \in L^p([0,1])$.

In [26, 27] the authors consider also a different space, namely, for every $\alpha \in]0,1]$

$$V_{\alpha} = \{ h \in h^{\alpha}([0,1]) \mid h(0) = 0 \}.$$

Here $h^{\alpha}([0,1])$ is the little Hoelder space of order α , that is the space of the functions $h:[0,1]\to\mathbb{R}$ such that

$$||h||_{\alpha} := \sup_{\substack{x,y \in [0,1] \\ x \neq y}} \frac{|h(x) - h(y)|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} < \infty$$

and

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{\substack{x,y \in [0,1]\\0 < |x-y| < r}} \frac{|h(x) - h(y)|}{|x-y|^{\alpha}} = 0.$$

Observe that h^{α} is a separable Banach space endowed with the norm $||h||_{\alpha}$. Under suitable assumptions on the function h, \mathcal{T} is a C_0 -semigroup on V_{α} , too, and in [26, 27] the authors prove the following result.

Theorem 1.1.1 Let $h:[0,1]\to\mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function and let \mathcal{T} be the semigroup defined in (1.2).

- (i) If $\operatorname{Re} h(0) > -\frac{1}{p}$, \mathcal{T} is chaotic on $L^p(0,1)$.
- (ii) If $h(0) \in \mathbb{R}$, $\frac{\operatorname{Re} h(x) h(0)}{x} \in L^1([0,1])$ and $h(0) > 1 \frac{1}{p}$, \mathcal{T} is chaotic on V_{α} .

We will recover these result from our results for more general C_0 -semigroups.

We mention that, more in general, in [37] the authors consider the following equation on the multidimensional case on certain compact set D of \mathbb{R}^d

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t,x) + \sum_{i=1}^{d} c_i(x) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}(t,x) = \gamma u(t,x) \quad t \ge 0, x \in D \subset \mathbb{R}^d_+ \cup \{0\}$$
 (1.3)

with initial condition

$$u(0,x) = v(x) \quad x \in D,$$

where v belongs to some normed vector space of functions defined on $D, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, and $c := (c_i)_{i=1}^d : D \to \mathbb{R}^d$ with $c_i(0) = 0$ and $c_i(x) > 0$ for $x \in D \setminus \{0\}, i = 1, \ldots, d$.

Theorem 1.1.2 ([37]) Let $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then there exist a C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} on $L^p(D)$, which is solution of the equation (1.3). Moreover, if $\gamma > -\frac{1}{p} \liminf_{x \to 0} (\nabla \cdot c)(x)$ then \mathcal{T} is chaotic on $L^p(D)$.

A similar problem was studied also by Kalmes in [45]. Observe that $0 is possible since the authors gives <math>\mu(D) < \infty$, for more details we refer the reader to the introduction of [37].

1.2 Chaotic dynamics on Lebesgue spaces

Our first aim in this section is to give a characterization of chaos for a C_0 -semigroup on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ which is not present in [46]. The proof follows the idea of the results obtained in [46] for hypercyclicity and mixing for those C_0 -semigroups. For this, consider the notation of section 0.1 and section 0.4.

Throughout this section let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$, $\rho : \Omega \to (0, +\infty)$ λ -measurable, $F \in C^1(\Omega)$ satisfying the assumptions (H1), (H2) and (H3) of section 0.4 and φ the flow associated with F. Moreover let $h \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$ and let

$$h_t(x) = \exp(\int_0^t h(\varphi(s, x)) ds), \quad \text{for } t \ge 0, x \in \Omega.$$

Let $1 \leq p < \infty$ and define for every $f \in L_p^p(\Omega)$ and every $t \geq 0$

$$T_{F,h}(t)f(x) := h_t(x)f(\varphi(t,x)), \qquad x \in \Omega.$$

The next theorem gives a characterization of when $(T_{F,h}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ defines a C_0 -semigroup in $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$. For its proof see [45, Theorem 4.7 and Proposition 4.12]. Although in [45] h is assumed to be real valued the proofs of [45, Theorem 4.7 and Proposition 4.12] are valid for complex valued h, too. Observe that for real valued h we have $h_t = |h_t|$ for all $t \geq 0$.

Theorem 1.2.1 Let $p \in [1, \infty)$. Then the following are equivalent.

i) The family $\mathcal{T}_{F,h} = (T_{F,h}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a C_0 -semigroup on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$.

ii) There exist $M \geq 1, \omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for every $t \geq 0$

$$|h_t(x)|^p \rho(x) \leq Me^{\omega t} \rho(\varphi(t,x)) |\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)| \text{ holds } \lambda \text{-a.e. on } \Omega.$$

Moreover, if ii) holds the generator of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is an extension of the operator

$$C_c^1(\Omega) \to L_\rho^p(\Omega), \qquad f \mapsto Ff' + hf$$

in $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$, where $C^1_c(\Omega)$ denotes the space of compactly supported, continuously differentiable functions on Ω . Additionally, if h is bounded and F is such that for every $x_0 \in \Omega$ the maximal domain of $\varphi(\cdot, x_0)$ equals \mathbb{R} , then $C^1_c(\Omega)$ is a core for the generator of the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$.

Definition 1.2.2 In what follows, we call a measurable function $\rho: \Omega \to (0, \infty)$ p-admissible for F and h $(p \in [1, \infty))$ if the conditions (H1)-(H3) are fulfilled and there are constants $M \geq 1, \omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in \Omega : |h_t(x)|^p \rho(x) \le M e^{\omega t} \rho(\varphi(t, x)) |\partial_2 \varphi(t, x)|.$$

Since $|h_t(x)| = \exp(\int_0^t \operatorname{Re} h(\varphi(s,\cdot))ds)$, p-admissibility of ρ only depends on F and $\operatorname{Re} h$. By the above theorem, we have for a p-admissible ρ for F and h the well-defined C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$.

In order to formulate our results in a convenient way we introduce the following notions.

Definition 1.2.3 If ρ is p-admissible for F and h we define for $t \geq 0$

$$\rho_{t,p}: \Omega \to [0,\infty), \qquad \rho_{t,p}(x) := \chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)}(x) |h_t(\varphi(-t,x))|^p \rho(\varphi(-t,x)) \partial_2 \varphi(-t,x)$$

as well as

$$\rho_{-t,p}: \Omega \to [0,\infty), \qquad \rho_{-t,p}(x) := |h_t(x)|^{-p} \rho(\varphi(t,x)) \partial_2 \varphi(t,x).$$

Obviously, $\rho_{t,p}$ and $\rho_{-t,p}$ depend on F and h but in order to keep notation simple we will not take this into account notationally as there will be no danger of confusion. Observe that $\rho_{0,p} = \rho$.

Remark 1.2.4 We can consider also the multidimensional case, that is $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ (d > 1), F a locally Lipschitz continuous vector field, ρ a measurable locally integrable function and replace $\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)$ by $|\det D\varphi(-t,\cdot)|$, where $D\varphi(t,\cdot)$ denotes the Jacobian of $\varphi(t,\cdot)$.

We will consider this case in Chapter 2.

The next lemma will be a crucial tool (originally proved in [46, Lemma 7]).

Lemma 1.2.5 Let ρ be p-admissible for F and h and let $[a,b] \subset \Omega_1$. Setting $\alpha := a, \beta := b$ if $F_{|[a,b]} > 0$, respectively $\alpha := b, \beta := a$ if $F_{|[a,b]} < 0$, there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$\forall x \in [a, b]: \frac{1}{C} \le \rho(x) \le C$$

as well as

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in [a, b]: \frac{1}{C} \rho_{t, p}(\alpha) \le \rho_{t, p}(x) \le C \rho_{t, p}(\beta)$$

and

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in [a, b]: \frac{1}{C} \rho_{-t, p}(\alpha) \le \rho_{-t, p}(x) \le C \rho_{-t, p}(\beta).$$

We will see that the dynamical properties of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ are determined by the asymptotic behavior of the functions

$$t \mapsto \rho_{t,p}(x), \quad t \mapsto \rho_{-t,p}(x)$$

where $x \in \Omega$ is fixed.

The alternative representation of $\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)$ in Proposition 0.4.8 gives the next result

Corollary 1.2.6 Let ρ be p-admissible for F and h. Then we have for all $t \geq 0$ and $x \in \Omega$

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)}(x) \exp\left(p \int_{-t}^{0} \left[\operatorname{Re} h(\varphi(s,x)) - \frac{1}{p} F'(\varphi(s,x))\right] ds\right) \rho(\varphi(-t,x))$$

$$= \begin{cases} \exp\left(pt \left[\operatorname{Re} h(x) - \frac{1}{p} F'(x)\right]\right) \rho(x), & x \in \Omega_{0} \\ \chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)}(x) \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(-t,x)}^{x} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right) \rho(\varphi(-t,x)), & x \in \Omega_{1} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\rho_{-t,p}(x) = \exp\left(-p\int_0^t \left[\operatorname{Re}h(\varphi(s,x)) - \frac{1}{p}F'(\varphi(s,x))\right]ds\right)\rho(\varphi(t,x))$$

$$= \begin{cases} \exp\left(-pt[\operatorname{Re}h(x) - \frac{1}{p}F'(x)]\right)\rho(x), & x \in \Omega_0, \\ \exp\left(-p\int_x^{\varphi(t,x)} \frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y) - \frac{1}{p}F'(y)}{F(y)}dy\right)\rho(\varphi(t,x)), & x \in \Omega_1 \end{cases}$$

where $\Omega_0 = \{x : F(x) = 0\}$ and $\Omega_1 = \{x : F(x) \neq 0\}$.

Proof. While a straightforward calculation gives

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)}(x) \exp\left(p \int_{-t}^{0} \left[\operatorname{Re} h(\varphi(s,x)) - \frac{1}{p} F'(\varphi(s,x)) \right] ds \right) \rho(\varphi(-t,x))$$

and

$$\rho_{-t,p}(x) = \exp\left(-p \int_0^t \left[\operatorname{Re} h(\varphi(s,x)) - \frac{1}{p} F'(\varphi(s,x)) \right] ds \right) \rho(\varphi(t,x))$$

we observe that for $x \in \Omega_0$ we have $\varphi(t,x) = x$ for each t so that in Ω_0

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \exp\left(pt\left(\operatorname{Re}h(x) - \frac{1}{p}F'(x)\right)\right)\rho(x)$$

as well as

$$\rho_{-t,p}(x) = \exp\left(-pt\left(\operatorname{Re} h(x) - \frac{1}{p}F'(x)\right)\right)\rho(x).$$

For $x \in \Omega_1$ it is well-known that $\varphi(t, x) \in \Omega_1$ so that in Ω_1

$$\rho_{-t,p}(x) = \exp\left(-p \int_0^t \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(\varphi(s,x)) - \frac{1}{p} F'(\varphi(s,x))}{F(\varphi(s,x))} \partial_1 \varphi(s,x) ds\right) \rho(\varphi(t,x))$$

$$= \exp\left(-p \int_x^{\varphi(t,x)} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right) \rho(\varphi(t,x))$$

and similarly

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)}(x) \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(-t,x)}^{x} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right) \rho(\varphi(-t,x)).$$

Remark 1.2.7 Observe that if $\lambda(\Omega_0) > 0$ then

$$\rho_{\pm t,p}(x) = e^{\pm pt \operatorname{Re} h(x)} \rho(x),$$
 a.e. $x \in \Omega_0$.

In fact, we can rewrite $\Omega_0 = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} (a_n, b_n)$, where $a_n < b_n$ being $F \in C^1$ with F(x) = 0 on Ω_0 then F' = 0 in Ω_0 .

The next result, published in [45, Theorem 5.3], show a characterization of chaos for arbitrary dimension $d \ge 1$.

Theorem 1.2.8 ([45]) Under the general hypothesis on $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$, let φ be such that for every compact subset K of Ω there is $t_K > 0$ such that $\varphi(t, K) \cap K = \emptyset$ for every $t > t_K$. Then, the following are equivalent.

- (i) The C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic on $L^p_o(\Omega)$.
- (ii) $Per(\mathcal{T}_{F,h})$ is dense in $L^p_{\varrho}(\Omega)$.
- (iii) For every compact subset K of Ω there are a sequence of measurable subsets $(L_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of K and a strictly increasing sequence of positive numbers $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ tending to infinity such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(K\setminus L_n) = 0$, and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \Big(\sum_{l=1}^\infty \int_{L_n} \rho_{lt_n,p} \, d\lambda^d + \int_{L_n} \rho_{-lt_n,p} \, d\lambda^d \Big) = 0.$$

Now, we are able to show our result in the case d=1, it has been of interest by its simplified conditions.

Theorem 1.2.9 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be open, F satisfying (H1)-(H3), $h \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, and $\rho: \Omega \to (0, \infty)$ be a measurable function which is p-admissible for F and h. Then the following are equivalent.

- i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic on $L^p_o(\Omega)$.
- ii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1, \ldots, C_m of Ω_1 , for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \Pi_{j=1}^m C_j$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho_{lt,p}(x_j) < \infty.$$

Proof. We first show that i) implies ii). Since for all $x \in \Omega_0$ and any $t \ge 0$ we have $\varphi(t,x) = x$ it follows

$$\forall f \in L^p_{\rho}(\Omega) : (T_{F,h}(t)f)_{|\Omega_0} = (\exp(t h)f)_{|\Omega_0}$$

so that $(T_{F,h}(t)f)_{t\geq 0}$ cannot be dense in $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ for any $f\in L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ if $\lambda(\Omega_0)>0$. Hence, since $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic, we conclude $\lambda(\Omega_0)=0$. As described in Remark 0.4.2-(ii) we are therefore actually dealing with $T_{F,h}$ on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_1)$. Now, if $K\subset\Omega_1$ is compact there is $t_K>0$ such that $\varphi(t,K)\cap K=\emptyset$ whenever $t>t_K$. Hence, recalling that μ denotes the Borel measure on Ω with Lebesgue density ρ we can

apply Theorem 1.2.8 saying that, because $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_1)$ for every compact $K \subset \Omega_1$ there are a sequence $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in $[0, \infty)$ and a sequence of measurable subsets $(L_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of K such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(L_n) = \mu(K)$ and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \Big(\sum_{l=1}^\infty \int_{L_n} \rho_{lt_n,p} \, d\lambda + \int_{L_n} \rho_{-lt_n,p} \, d\lambda \Big) = 0.$$

We will apply this condition to special compact sets in order to derive ii).

Let x_1,\ldots,x_m be each from different connected components of Ω_1 . As Ω_1 is open, there is r<0 such that $\varphi(t,x_j)$ is well-defined for all $t\in[r,\infty)$ and every $1\leq j\leq m$. For each $1\leq j\leq m$ set $K_j:=\{\varphi(t,x_j);\,t\in[0,1]\}$ if $F(x_j)>0$, respectively $K_j:=\{\varphi(t,x_j);\,t\in[r,0]\}$ if $F(x_j)<0$. It follows that $K_j=[x_j,\varphi(1,x_j)]$ if $F(x_j)>0$, respectively $K_j=[\varphi(r,x_j),x_j]$ if $F(x_j)<0$. In particular $\lambda(K_j)>0$ and thus $\mu(K_j)>0$ for every j.

 $K:=\cup_{j=1}^m K_j\subset\Omega_1$ is compact so that there are $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(L_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ as above. Let $L_{n,j}:=L_n\cap K_j$ for $1\leq j\leq m$ and $n\in\mathbb{N}$. Applying Lemma 1.2.5 to K_j it follows that there are $C_j>0$ $(1\leq j\leq m)$ such that for all $n\in\mathbb{N}$

$$\int_{L_{n,j}} \rho_{lt_n,p}(y) \, d\lambda(y) = \int_{L_{n,j}} \frac{\rho_{lt_n,p}(y)}{\rho(y)} \, d\mu(y) \ge C_j \rho_{lt_n,p}(x_j) \mu(L_{n,j})$$

and analogously

$$\int_{L_{n,j}} \rho_{-lt_n,p}(y) \, d\lambda(y) \ge C_j \rho_{-lt_n,p}(x_j) \mu(L_{n,j}).$$

Since for n large enough

$$\infty > \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{L_n} \rho_{lt_n,p} d\lambda + \int_{L_n} \rho_{-lt_n,p} d\lambda \right)
= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{L_{n,j}} \rho_{lt_n,p} d\lambda + \int_{L_{n,j}} \rho_{-lt_n,p} d\lambda \right)
\geq \sum_{j=1}^{m} C_j \mu(L_{n,j}) \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\rho_{lt_n,p}(x_j) + \rho_{-lt_n,p}(x_j) \right)$$

and $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(L_{n,j}) = \mu(K_j) > 0$ we deduce for n large enough

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho_{lt_n,p}(x_j) < \infty.$$

Since for t=0 we have $\rho_{t,p}=\rho>0$ the above t_n has to be strictly positive. Thus, ii) is proved.

It remains to show that ii) implies i). Since $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ we consider $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_\rho(\Omega_1)$, as explained in Remark 0.4.2-(ii). If $K \subset \Omega_1$ is compact there is $t_K > 0$ such that $\varphi(t,K) \cap K = \emptyset$ whenever $t > t_K$. Hence, we can again use Theorem 1.2.8. For fixed compact $K \subset \Omega_1$ there are finitely many intervals $[a_j,b_j] \subset \Omega_1$ such that each $[a_j,b_j]$ is contained in a different connected component of Ω_1 and $K \subseteq \cup_{j=1}^m [a_j,b_j]$. We define $x_j := b_j$ if $F_{|[a_j,b_j]} > 0$, respectively $x_j := a_j$ if $F_{|[a_j,b_j]} < 0$. Moreover, without loss of generality, we can assume by ii) that there is t > 0 with

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho_{lt,p}(x_j) < \infty.$$

Now it follows from Lemma 1.2.5 that for some constants $C_j > 0 \ (1 \le j \le m)$ with $t_n := nt, \ n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{K} \rho_{lt_{n},p} \, d\lambda + \int_{K} \rho_{-lt_{n},p} \, d\lambda \right) & \leq & \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{[a_{j},b_{j}]} \rho_{lt_{n},p} \, d\lambda + \int_{[a_{j},b_{j}]} \rho_{-lt_{n},p} \, d\lambda \right) \\ & = & \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{[a_{j},b_{j}]} \frac{\rho_{lt_{n},p}}{\rho} \, d\mu + \int_{[a_{j},b_{j}]} \frac{\rho_{-lt_{n},p}}{\rho} \, d\mu \right) \\ & \leq & \sum_{j=1}^{m} C_{j} \mu([a_{j},b_{j}]) \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\rho_{lnt,p}(x_{j}) + \rho_{-lnt,p}(x_{j}) \right) \end{split}$$

so that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{K} \rho_{lt_n,p} \, d\lambda + \int_{K} \rho_{-lt_n,p} \, d\lambda \right) = 0.$$

With $L_n := K$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ it follows from Theorem 1.2.8 that $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_1)$. This proves the theorem.

Characterizations of hypercyclicity and mixing for $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ for some p-admissible ρ for F and real valued h were proved in [46], although results involving chaos are not proved in the same reference. Since we will use them in sequel, we include them here for the reader's convenience. For the proofs see [46, Theorem 9 and Remark 12].

Theorem 1.2.10 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be open, F satisfying (H1)-(H3), $h \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $\rho: \Omega \to (0, \infty)$ be a measurable function which is p-admissible for F and h.

a) For the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$ the following are equivalent.

- i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is hypercyclic.
- ii) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is weakly mixing.
- iii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1, \ldots, C_m of Ω_1 , for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \prod_{j=1}^m C_j$ there is a sequence of positive numbers $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ tending to infinity such that

$$\forall 1 \le j \le m : \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{t_n, p}(x_j) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{-t_n, p}(x_j) = 0.$$

- b) For the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ the following are equivalent.
 - i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is mixing.
 - ii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for λ -almost every $x \in \Omega$ one has

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \rho_{t,p}(x) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \rho_{-t,p}(x) = 0.$$

Example 1.2.11 (Left translation semigroup) Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}, F = 1$, and h = 0 so that $\varphi(t, x) = x + t$ and $h_t(x) = 1$. Then a measurable function $\rho : \mathbb{R} \to (0, \infty)$ is p-admissible for F and h for some $p \in [1, \infty)$ if the same holds for every $p \in [1, \infty)$ and the corresponding C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is the *(bilateral) left translation semigroup* on $L^p_{\rho}(\mathbb{R})$ and given by (T(t)f)(x) = f(x+t), its generator being an extension of

$$C_c^1(\mathbb{R}) \to L_\rho^p(\mathbb{R}), f \mapsto f'.$$

Moreover, we have

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \rho(x-t) \text{ and } \rho_{-t,p} = \rho(x+t).$$

Since $\Omega_0 = \emptyset$ we have only a single connected component of $\mathbb{R} \setminus \Omega_0$ so that by Theorem 1.2.9 the left translation semigroup on $L^p_{\rho}(\mathbb{R})$ is chaotic if and only if for λ -a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{l\in\mathbb{Z}}\rho(x+lt)<\infty.$$

This weight condition is originally due to Matsui et al. [53, 54, Theorem 2] (see also Chapter 7 and related exercises, in [44]).

Note that chaos is independent of $p \in [1, \infty)$ in this case.

It is worth observing that, by applying Theorem 1.2.10 to the left translation semigroup as stated in Example 1.2.11, one recovers the characterizations of hypercyclicity and mixing originally proved in [38] and [19] respectively.

Example 1.2.12 Let again $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, F(x) := 1 - x, h(x) = 0 $(x \in \mathbb{R})$ so that $\varphi(t,x) = 1 + (x-1)e^{-t}$, $h_t(x) = 1$, and $\partial_2 \varphi(t,x) = e^{-t}$. Then a measurable function $\rho : \mathbb{R} \to (0,\infty)$ is again p-admissible for F and h for some $p \in [1,\infty)$ if the same holds for every $p \in [1,\infty)$ and the corresponding C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is given by $(T(t)f)(x) = f(1 + (x-1)e^{-t})$ with generator being an extension of

$$C_c^1(\mathbb{R}) \to L_\rho^p(\mathbb{R}), f \mapsto (x \mapsto (1-x)f'(x)).$$

Furthermore, $\mathbb{R} \setminus \Omega_0 = (-\infty, 1) \cup (1, \infty)$ has two connected components and

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{R} : \rho_{t,p}(x) = \rho(1 + (x - 1)e^t)e^t,$$

so that $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic on $L^p_{\rho}(\mathbb{R})$ if and only if for λ^2 -a.e. $(x_1, x_2) \in (-\infty, 1) \times (1, \infty)$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho (1 + (x_j - 1)e^{lt})e^{lt} < \infty.$$

Again, the occurrence of chaos is independent of $p \in [1, \infty)$ as h = 0.

So far, we have only characterizations of hypercyclicity, mixing, and chaos of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ in case of real valued h. In order to obtain some results for complex valued h we use the *comparison test* which was defined in Definition 0.3.6 and also we use Proposition 0.3.7.

Let F satisfying (H1)-(H3), $h \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$ and let $g \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$. Moreover, let ρ be p-admissible for F and h as well as for F and g. Our aim is to find some measurable function $\psi : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\exp \circ \psi$ induces a continuous, invertible multiplication operator M on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ for which the C_0 -semigroups $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ and $\mathcal{T}_{F,g}$ are conjugate via M, i.e.

$$\forall t \ge 0, f \in L_o^p(\Omega) : \exp(\psi) T_{F,h}(t)(f) = T_{F,g}(t)(\exp(\psi)f)$$
 (1.4)

Being $T_{F,g}(t)(Mf) = \exp(\psi(\varphi(t,\cdot)))\frac{g_t}{h_t}T_{F,h}(t)(f)$, (1.4) is satisfied, if for each $x \in \Omega$

$$\forall t \ge 0: \ \psi(\varphi(t,x)) - \int_0^t (h(\varphi(s,x)) - g(\varphi(s,x))) \, ds = \psi(x). \tag{1.5}$$

Now, if $x \in \Omega_0$ it follows from $\varphi(t,x) = x$ that the above expression reduces to

$$\forall t \ge 0 : \psi(x) - t(h(x) - g(x)) = \psi(x).$$

Thus, it is necessary that h and g coincide on Ω_0 .

Moreover, for $x \in \Omega_1$ we also have $F(\varphi(t,x)) \neq 0$ for every $t \geq 0$ so

$$\begin{split} \forall\,t\geq 0: \qquad & \psi(\varphi(t,x)) - \int_0^t h(\varphi(s,x)) - g(\varphi(s,x)) ds \\ & = & \psi(\varphi(t,x)) - \int_0^t \frac{h(\varphi(s,x)) - g(\varphi(s,x))}{F(\varphi(s,x))} \partial_1\varphi(s,x) ds \\ & = & \begin{cases} \psi(\varphi(t,x)) - \int_x^{\varphi(t,x)} \frac{h(y) - g(y)}{F(y)} dy & \text{, if } F(x) > 0 \\ \psi(\varphi(t,x)) + \int_{\varphi(t,x)}^x \frac{h(y) - g(y)}{F(y)} dy & \text{, if } F(x) < 0. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Hence, if Ω is an interval, $\alpha := \inf \Omega, \omega := \sup \Omega$, and the function $\Omega \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto \frac{h(y) - g(y)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^1((\alpha, \beta))$ for every $\beta \in \Omega$, or to $L^1((\beta, \omega))$ for every $\beta \in \Omega$ we can set

$$\psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}, \psi(x) = \int_{\alpha}^{x} \frac{h(y) - g(y)}{F(y)} dy,$$

or

$$\psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}, \psi(x) = -\int_x^\omega \frac{h(y) - g(y)}{F(y)} dy,$$

respectively, and it follows from the above calculation that (1.5) holds on Ω_1 for this ψ .

Proposition 1.2.13 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be an open interval, F satisfying (H1)-(H3), $h \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{K})$. Moreover, let ρ be p-admissible for F and h and set $\alpha := \inf \Omega, \omega := \sup \Omega$. Consider the following conditions.

- 1) $\forall x \in \Omega_0 : h(x) \in \mathbb{R}$.
- 2a) The function $\Omega \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto \frac{\operatorname{Im} h(y)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^1((\alpha, \beta))$ for all $\beta \in \Omega$.
- 2b) The function $\Omega \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto -\frac{\operatorname{Im} h(y)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^1((\beta, \omega))$ for all $\beta \in \Omega$.

If 1) and 2a) are satisfied, set $\psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, $\psi(x) = i \int_{\alpha}^{x} \frac{\operatorname{Im} h(y)}{F(y)} dy$, while if 1) and 2b) hold, set $\psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, $\psi(x) = -i \int_{x}^{\omega} \frac{\operatorname{Im} h(y)}{F(y)} dy$. Then $\exp \circ \psi$ defines a continuous, invertible multiplication operator M on $L_{\rho}^{p}(\Omega)$ such that the C_{0} -semigroups $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ and $\mathcal{T}_{F,\text{Re }h}$ on $L_{\rho}^{p}(\Omega)$ are conjugate via M.

Proof. By the observation preceding the proposition applied to h and $g = \operatorname{Re} h$ we only have to show that $\exp \circ \psi$ defines a continuous, invertible multiplication operator on $L^p_o(\Omega)$. But this is obvious because $|\exp(\psi(x))| = 1$ for all $x \in \Omega$. \square

Remark 1.2.14 From the above proposition and the comparison test it follows immediately, that in Theorems 1.2.10 and 1.2.9 we can replace the hypothesis of h being real valued by the weaker conditions

- 1) $\forall x \in \Omega_0 : h(x) \in \mathbb{R}$.
- 2) With $\alpha := \inf \Omega$ and $\omega := \sup \Omega$ the function $\Omega \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto \frac{\operatorname{Im} h(y)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^1((\alpha, \beta))$ for all $\beta \in \Omega$ or to $L^1((\beta, \omega))$ for all $\beta \in \Omega$.

We finish this section by taking a closer look at the case $\rho=1$ for some special cases which are of particular interest for the examples of linear differential equations in section 1.4 as is the case of von Foerster-Lasota equation.

Theorem 1.2.15 Let $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be an open interval, F satisfying (H2)-(H3) on I with F(x) < 0 for each $x \in I$ and such that $\varphi(t, I) \neq I$ for some t > 0. Moreover, let $h \in C(I, \mathbb{C})$ be such that with $\alpha := \inf I$ and $\omega := \sup I$ the function

$$I \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{\operatorname{Im} h(x)}{F(x)}$$

belongs to $L^1((\alpha, \beta))$ for every $\beta \in I$ or to $L^1((\beta, \omega))$ for every $\beta \in I$. Furthermore, let $\rho = 1$ be p-admissible for F and h for some $1 \le p < \infty$.

- a) For the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p(I)$ the following are equivalent.
 - i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is hypercyclic.
 - ii) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is weakly mixing.
 - iii) There is a sequence $(\alpha_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in I converging to α such that for some $x_0 \in I$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\alpha_n}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy = -\infty.$$

b) For the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p(I)$ the following are equivalent.

- i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is mixing.
- *ii)* For some $x_0 \in I$

$$\int_{\alpha}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy = -\infty.$$

- c) For the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p(I)$ the following are equivalent.
 - i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic.
 - ii) There is some $x_0 \in I$ such that for every $x \in I$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(lt,x)}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right) < \infty.$$

Proof. From Corollary 1.2.6 it follows

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in I: \quad \rho_{t,p}(x) = \chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x) \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(-t,x)}^{x} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right)$$

and

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in I: \quad \rho_{-t,p}(x) = \exp\left(-p \int_x^{\varphi(t,x)} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right).$$

For each $x \in I$ the trajectory $\{\varphi(t,x); t \geq 0\}$ is either an open subinterval of I or equals $\{x\}$. Since the later occurs if and only if F(x) = 0 it follows from F(x) < 0 that $\inf\{\varphi(t,x); t \geq 0\} = \alpha$ for every $x \in I$. Moreover, the assumption $\varphi(t,I) \neq I$ for some t > 0 implies that for every $x \in I$ there is $t_0 > 0$ such that $\chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x) = 0$ whenever $t > t_0$. In particular, for all $x \in I$ we have $\rho_{t,p}(x) = 0$ for sufficiently large t.

Proof of part a). It follows from Remark 1.2.14 and Theorem 1.2.10 that i) and ii) in a) are equivalent and by the preceding observation they hold if and only if for λ -a.e. $x \in I$ there is a sequence $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in $(0, \infty)$ tending to infinity such that

$$0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{-t_n, p}(x) = \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(t_n, x)}^x \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right).$$

Being $\varphi(\cdot, x)$ strictly decreasing and $\alpha = \inf\{\varphi(t, x); t \geq 0\}$ for every $x \in I$, the above relation obviously holds if and only if for some sequence $(\alpha_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in I

converging to α we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\alpha_n}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy = -\infty$$

for some (and then any) $x_0 \in I$. Thus a) is proved.

The proof of parts b) and c) go along the same lines as the one of part a) by applying Theorem 1.2.10 b) and Theorem 1.2.9, respectively, instead of Theorem 1.2.10 a), so that we omit them. \Box

Remark 1.2.16 i) If under the hypotheses of the above theorem we have for some $t_0 > 0$, $\varphi(t_0, I) = I$ it is easily seen that the same holds for every t > 0 so that

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(-t,x)}^{x} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right).$$

It follows by the same kind of arguments as in the above proof that $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is hypercyclic on $L^p(I)$ if and only if $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is weakly mixing if and only if there are sequences $(\alpha_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(\omega_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in I converging to α and ω respectively, such that for some $x_0 \in I$

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{\alpha_n}^{x_0}\frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y)-\frac{1}{p}F'(y)}{F(y)}dy=-\infty,\quad \lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{x_0}^{\omega_n}\frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y)-\frac{1}{p}F'(y)}{F(y)}dy=+\infty.$$

Mixing of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ then occurs if and only if

$$\int_{\alpha}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy = -\infty, \quad \int_{x_0}^{\omega} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy = +\infty,$$

while $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is chaotic if and only if there is some $x_0 \in I$ such that for every $x \in I$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(p \int_{\varphi(lt,x)}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right) + \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(-p \int_{x_0}^{\varphi(-lt,x)} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy\right) < \infty.$$

ii) Of course it is possible to characterize hypercyclicity, mixing, and chaos of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ in case of F being strictly positive on I, too. The other hypotheses of Corollary 1.2.6 unchanged, it follows for example that $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is hypercyclic if and only if

there is a sequence $(\omega_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in I converging to $\omega=\sup I$ such that for some $x_0\in I$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{x_0}^{\omega_n} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - \frac{1}{p} F'(y)}{F(y)} dy = \infty.$$

The conditions characterizing mixing property and chaos change, respectively, along the same line.

To conclude this section we give a concrete description of the generator of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ in case of $\rho = 1$, at least under some mild additional assumptions on F and h.

Theorem 1.2.17 Let $F \in C^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and let $h \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$ be as above, $1 \leq p < \infty$ and assume that $\rho = 1$ is p-admissible for F and h. Assume that additionally $h \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and that F can be extended as a C^1 -function to \mathbb{R} such that

- $i) F, F' \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}),$
- ii) $\overline{\Omega}$ is positively invariant under the flow $\varphi(\cdot,\cdot)$ associated with the problem $\dot{x} = F(x), x(0) = x_0$ (defined on $\mathbb{R} \otimes \mathbb{R}$ by the assumptions on F).

Then the generator (A, D(A)) of the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p(\Omega)$ is given by

$$D(A) = \{ f \in L^p(\Omega); F f' \in L^p(\Omega) \}$$

and

$$A: D(A) \to L^p(\Omega), \qquad Af = Ff' + hf,$$

where f' denotes the distributional derivative of f.

Proof. Let $D := \{ f \in L^p(\Omega); Ff' \in L^p(\Omega) \}$ and

$$B: D \to L^p(\Omega), \qquad Bf := Ff'.$$

We first observe that the operator (B, D) is a closed operator. Indeed, let $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} u_n = f$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} Bu_n = g$ in $L^p(\Omega)$. Since $F \in C^1(\Omega)$ we obtain for the distributional derivative of Fu_n

$$(Fu_n)' = F'u_n + Fu_n' = F'u_n + Bu_n$$

which converges in $L^p(\Omega)$ to F'f + g because $F' \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

It follows $\lim_{n\to\infty} Fu'_n = g$ in $L^p(\Omega)$. On the other hand $(Fu'_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges in the sense of distributions to Ff' and thus $Ff' = g \in L^p(\Omega)$. Hence $f \in D$ and Bf = g, so that (B, D) is a closed operator.

Next we show that

$$D_1 := \{ f \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}) \cap L^p(\Omega); \ f' \in L^p(\Omega) \}.$$

is a core for (B,D). Being $F\in L^\infty(\Omega)$, we have $D_1\subseteq D$. Let $\psi\in C_c^\infty(\mathbb{R})$ be such that $\psi\geq 0$ and $\int_R\psi(x)\,dx=1$ and set $\psi_n(x):=n\psi(nx), n\in\mathbb{N}$. In what follows we extend all functions from $L^p(\Omega)$ by 0 to all \mathbb{R} . Fix $f\in L^p(\Omega)$. Then $\psi_n*f\in C^\infty(\mathbb{R})\cap L^p(\mathbb{R})$, thus its restriction to $\overline{\Omega}$ belongs to $C^1(\Omega)$. Moreover, as is well-known $(\psi_n*f)'=\psi_n'*f\in L^p(\mathbb{R})$ and therefore $(\psi_n*f)\in D_1$ with $\lim_{n\to\infty}(\psi_n*f)_{|\Omega}=f$ in $L^p(\Omega)$. Since we assumed F to be extendable to \mathbb{R} such that $F\in C^1(\mathbb{R})$ with $F,F'\in L^\infty(\mathbb{R})$ it follows from Lemma 0.1.1 that $F(\psi_n*f)'-\psi_n*(Ff')\in L^p(\mathbb{R})$ for all $n\in\mathbb{N}$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty}F(\psi_n*f)'-\psi_n*(Ff')=0$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R})$. As $Ff'\in L^p(\mathbb{R})$ by $f\in D$ we have

$$F(\psi_n * f)' - Ff' = (\psi_n * (Ff') - Ff') + (F(\psi_n * f') - \psi_n * (Ff')),$$

so $\lim_{n\to\infty} F(\psi_n * f)'_{|\Omega} = Ff'$ in $L^p(\Omega)$ implying that $(B(\psi_n * f)_{|\Omega})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges to Bf in $L^p(\Omega)$. Hence D_1 is dense in D equipped with the graph norm of B, i.e. D_1 is a core of (B, D).

Since we assume $h \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ it follows that $|h_t(x)| \ge e^{-t||h||_{\infty}}$ for all $x \in \Omega$. Being $\rho = 1$ is p-admissible for F and h we conclude that

$$\forall x \in \Omega: \qquad 1 \leq M e^{(\omega + p||h||_{\infty})t} |\partial_2 \varphi(t, x)|$$

so that $\rho = 1$ is p-admissible for F and 0, too. Denote the generator of the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,0} = (T_{F,0}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^p(\Omega)$ by $(A_0,D(A_0))$. By using Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem it is straightforward to verify that $D_1 \subseteq D(A_0)$ and $A_0f = Bf$ for all $f \in D_1$.

Next we show that D_1 is also a core for $(A_0, D(A_0))$. Indeed, as $C_c^1(\Omega) \subseteq D_1$ it follows that D_1 is dense in $L^p(\Omega)$. Moreover, it follows immediately from $\mathcal{T}_{F,0}(t)f = f(\varphi(t,\cdot))$ that D_1 is invariant under $T_{F,0}$ because of the additional hypothesis ii). Applying Proposition 0.2.5 i) we conclude that D_1 is a core for $(A_0, D(A_0))$. As both operators (B, D) and $(A_0, D(A_0))$ are closed and coincide on the common core D_1 , we obtain $(A_0, D(A_0)) = (B, D)$.

As $h \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, the operator

$$M_h: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega), \qquad f \mapsto hf$$

is well-defined and continuous. Being a bounded perturbation of $(A_0, D(A_0))$

$$C: D(A_0) \to L^p(\Omega), \qquad f \mapsto A_0 f + M_h f = Bf + M_h$$

generates a C_0 -semigroup S on $L^p(\Omega)$ (see e.g. Theorem 0.2.6) and D_1 is a core of $(C, D(A_0))$.

Now, let (A, D(A)) be the generator of the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$. As above for the special case h = 0 one shows that $D_1 \subseteq D(A)$ and that A and C coincide on D_1 . Moreover, if $\alpha \in \rho(A) \cap \rho(C)$, it follows from D_1 being a core for $(C, D(A_0))$ that

$$\overline{(\alpha - A)(D_1)} = \overline{(\alpha - C)(D_1)} = L^p(\Omega).$$

From Proposition 0.2.5 ii) we derive that D_1 is a core for (A, D(A)). Since (A, D(A)) and $(C, D(A_0))$ are both closed operators coinciding on the common core D_1 we finally obtain the assertion.

Remark 1.2.18 Conditions on F that ensure that ii) holds can be found by using Theorem 0.4.4 and Corollary 0.4.5. In particular if $\Omega = (a, b)$, then ii) holds if $F(a) \geq 0$ and $F(b) \leq 0$.

1.3 Chaotic dynamics on Sobolev spaces

In this section we will consider the semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ when acting on the Sobolev spaces $W^{1,p}(I)$ and $W_*^{1,p}(I)$, where I is a bounded open interval. We will use Lemma 1.3.2 and Proposition 1.3.3 to see how the dynamical properties can be transferred into these spaces from $L^p(I)$.

The following result is standard in the theory of Sobolev spaces. A proof can be found [25, Lemma 8.2].

Lemma 1.3.1 Let $g \in L^1_{loc}(I)$; for y_0 fixed in I, set

$$v(x) = \int_{u_0}^{x} g(t)dt, \ x \in I.$$

Then $v \in C(I)$ and

$$\int_{I} v\varphi' = -\int_{I} g\varphi, \ \forall \varphi \in C_{c}^{1}(I).$$

A straightforward consequence is the following lemma.

Lemma 1.3.2 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded open interval in \mathbb{R} and $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then

$$\Phi: L^p(I) \to W^{1,p}_*(I), \qquad \Phi(f)(x) := \int_a^x f(y) \, dy$$

is a well-defined, linear and continuous bijection with continuous inverse

$$\Phi^{-1}: W^{1,p}_{\downarrow}(I) \to L^p(I), \qquad \Phi^{-1}(f) = f'.$$

Proof. A straightforward application of Jensen's inequality gives that

$$\int_{a}^{b} |\Phi(f)(x)|^{p} dx \leq \int_{a}^{b} (x-a)^{p-1} dx \int_{a}^{b} |f(y)|^{p} dy$$

$$= \frac{1}{p} (b-a)^{p} \int_{a}^{b} |f(y)|^{p} dy. \tag{1.6}$$

Moreover, by Lemma 1.3.1 it follows that the distributional derivative of $\Phi(f)$ equals f, so that Φ is in fact well-defined, obviously linear, and by (1.6) and $\Phi(f)' = f$ continuous. Injectivity of Φ follows from $\Phi(f)' = f$. Additionally, from $\Phi(u') = u$ for every $u \in W_*^{1,p}(I)$ we obtain the surjectivity of Φ . Obviously, $\Phi^{-1}(f) = f'$ for all $W_*^{1,p}(I)$.

The comparison test and Lemma 1.3.2 imply the next result.

Proposition 1.3.3 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded open interval, $1 \leq p < \infty$, and let Φ be as in Lemma 1.3.2. Moreover, let \mathcal{T} be a C_0 -semigroup of $L^p(I)$. Then $\mathcal{S} := (\Phi \circ T(t) \circ \Phi^{-1})_{t \geq 0}$ is a C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ which is hypercyclic, (weakly) mixing, chaotic, or stable respectively, if and only if the same holds for \mathcal{T} .

Proof. Clearly, S is a C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ by Lemma 1.3.2. The rest of the assertion follows immediately from the comparison test.

The first part of this section is devoted to find conditions that ensure the restriction of the semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ to $W^{1,p}(I)$ is a C_0 -semigroup.

Lemma 1.3.4 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval and $F:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^1 -function satisfying (H2)-(H3). Then the function $\rho=1$ is p-admissible for F and F' for every $1 \le p < \infty$, i.e. the semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'}=(T_{F,F'}(t))_{t>0}$ defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, f \in L^p(I) : (T_{F,F'}(t)f)(x) := \exp\left(\int_0^t F'(\varphi(s,x)) \, ds\right) f(\varphi(t,x))$$

is a C_0 -semigroup on $L^p(I)$.

Proof. Since F is C^1 on [a,b] there is $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $F'(x) \leq \omega$ for all $x \in [a,b]$. Hence, for $t \geq 0$ and $x \in (a,b)$ we have

$$0 \leq \partial_2 \varphi(t, x) = 1 + \int_0^t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \partial_2 \varphi(s, x) \, ds = 1 + \int_0^t \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \varphi(s, x) \, ds$$
$$= 1 + \int_0^t F'(\varphi(s, x)) \partial_2 \varphi(s, x) \, ds \leq 1 + \omega \int_0^t \partial_2 \varphi(s, x) \, ds.$$

An application of Gronwall's lemma yields

$$\forall x \in (a, b), t \ge 0: \quad \partial_2 \varphi(t, x) \le e^{\omega t}.$$

For $1 \le p < \infty$ it follows from the above inequality, the hypothesis, and Proposition 0.4.8 that for every $x \in (a,b)$ we have

$$\forall t \ge 0: \left(\exp\left(\int_0^t F'(\varphi(s,x)) \, ds \right) \right)^p = \left(\partial_2 \varphi(t,x) \right)^{p-1} |\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)|$$

$$\le e^{(p-1)\omega t} |\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)|.$$

We finish the proof by using of Theorem 1.2.1 with h = F' and $\rho = 1$.

Theorem 1.3.5 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval and $F:[a,b]\to\mathbb{R}$ a C^1 -function satisfying (H2)-(H3) with F(a)=0. Then for every $1\leq p<\infty$ and $\gamma\in\mathbb{R}$, setting

$$\forall t \geq 0, f \in W^{1,p}(I) : (S_{F,\gamma}(t)f)(x) := e^{\gamma t} f(\varphi(t,x)),$$

the family $S_{F,\gamma} = (S_{F,\gamma}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}(I)$. Moreover $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ is $S_{F,\gamma}$ -invariant.

The generator of $S_{F,\gamma}$ in $W^{1,p}(I)$ is given by

$$B: \{f \in W^{1,p}(I); Ff'' \in L^p(I)\} \to W^{1,p}(I), \qquad Bf = Ff' + \gamma f,$$

while its generator in $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ is

$$B_*: \{f \in W^{1,p}_*(I); Ff'' \in L^p(I)\} \to W^{1,p}_*(I), \qquad B_*f = Ff' + \gamma f.$$

Proof. By the preceding lemma $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'} = (T_{F,F'}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a well-defined strongly continuous semigroup on $L^p(I)$ for every $1 \leq p < \infty$. As F(a) = 0 we have $\varphi(t,a) = a$ for all $t \geq 0$ so that for all $f \in L^p(I)$ and $t \geq 0$ with Φ as in Lemma 1.3.2 and the fact that $\varphi(t,\cdot)$ is increasing by Proposition 0.4.8

$$\Phi(T(t)f)(x) = \int_a^x f(\varphi(t,y))|\partial_2 \varphi(t,y)| \, dy = \int_a^{\varphi(t,x)} f(y) \, dy = \Phi(f)(\varphi(t,x)).$$

Since Φ is bijective it follows that $S_{F,\gamma} := (S_{F,\gamma}(t))_{t\geq 0} = (\Phi \circ (e^{\gamma t} T_{F,F'}(t)) \circ \Phi^{-1})_{t\geq 0}$ defines a C_0 -semigroup on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$. Clearly, for every $t\geq 0$ the mapping

$$S_{F,\gamma}(t): \operatorname{span} \{1\} \to \operatorname{span} \{1\}, \qquad \alpha \mathbb{1} \mapsto e^{\gamma t} (\alpha \mathbb{1}) \circ \varphi(t, \cdot)$$

is well-defined, linear and continuous. It follows that $\mathcal{S}_{F,\gamma}$ is a well-defined C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}(I)=W_*^{1,p}(I)\oplus \mathrm{span}\,\{1\!\!1\}$ such that $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ is $\mathcal{S}_{F,\gamma}$ -invariant.

The generator of $S_{F,\gamma|W^{1,p}_*(I)}$ is given by $(\Phi \circ A \circ \Phi^{-1}, \Phi(D(A)))$, where (A, D(A)) is the generator of $(e^{\gamma t}T_{F,F'}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ in $L^p(I)$ which by Theorem 1.2.17 is

$$A: \{f \in L^p(I); Ff' \in L^p(I)\} \to L^p(I), \qquad Af = Ff' + F'f + \gamma f.$$

Therefore

$$\Phi(D(A)) = \{ f \in W_*^{1,p}(I); Ff'' \in L^p(I) \}$$

and

$$\forall f \in \Phi(D(A)) : \Phi \circ A \circ \Phi^{-1}(f) = \Phi(Ff'' + F'f' + \gamma f') = Ff' + \gamma f.$$

Obviously, span{ $\mathbb{1}$ } is contained in the domain of the generator (B, D(B)) of $\mathcal{S}_{F,\gamma}$ with $B\mathbb{1} = \gamma\mathbb{1}$. Therefore,

$$D(B) = \Phi(D(A)) \oplus \text{span}\{1\} = \{ f \in W^{1,p}(I); Ff'' \in L^p(I) \}$$

and

$$\forall f \in D(B): \quad Bf = \Phi \circ A \circ \Phi^{-1}(f - f(a)\mathbb{1}) + \gamma f(a)\mathbb{1} = Ff' + \gamma f.$$

By combining the above theorem with the results stated in section 1.2, we are now able to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 1.3.6 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval, $1 \leq p < \infty, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, and $F:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^1 -function satisfying (H2)-(H3) with F(a)=0. Then the following holds.

- a) The C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,\gamma}$ is not hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(I)$.
- b) On $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ the following are equivalent for the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,\gamma}$.
 - i) $S_{F,\gamma}$ is weakly mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,

- ii) $S_{F,\gamma}$ is hypercyclic on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
- iii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1, \ldots, C_m of $I \setminus \Omega_0$, for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \prod_{j=1}^m C_j$ there is a sequence of positive numbers $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ tending to infinity such that for every $1 \leq j \leq m$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \chi_{\varphi(t_n, I)}(x_j) e^{p\gamma t_n} \, \partial_2 \varphi(-t_n, x_j)^{1-p} = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} e^{-p\gamma t_n} \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(t_n,x_j)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2t_n,x_j)^p} = 0.$$

- c) On $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ the following are equivalent for the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,\gamma}$.
 - i) $S_{F,\gamma}$ is mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
 - ii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for λ -almost every $x \in I$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x) e^{p\gamma t} \, \partial_2 \varphi(-t,x)^{1-p} = \lim_{t \to \infty} e^{-p\gamma t} \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2t,x)^p} = 0.$$

- d) On $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ the following are equivalent for the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,\gamma}$.
 - i) $S_{F,\gamma}$ is chaotic on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
 - ii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1, \ldots, C_m of $I \setminus \Omega_0$, for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \Pi_{i=1}^m C_j$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \chi_{\varphi(lt,I)}(x) e^{p\gamma lt} \, \partial_2 \varphi(-lt,x)^{1-p} + \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} e^{-p\gamma lt} \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(lt,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2lt,x)^p} < \infty$$

for every $1 \leq j \leq m$.

Proof. Let $P_1:W^{1,p}(I)\to \operatorname{span}\{1\!\!1\}, P_1(f)=f(a)1\!\!1$. As F(a)=0 we have $\varphi(t,a)=a$ for all $t\geq 0$ which implies $P_1\circ S_{F,\gamma}(t)=S_{F,\gamma}(t)\circ P_1$. Since there are no hypercyclic C_0 -semigroups on finite-dimensional spaces part a) follows from the comparison test.

Now, let Φ be as in Lemma 1.3.2. Since $(\Phi^{-1} \circ S_{F,\gamma}(t) \circ \Phi)_{t\geq 0} = \mathcal{T}_{F,F'+\gamma}$ and $\Phi^{-1}(W^{1,p}_*(I)) = L^p(I)$ it follows from Theorem 1.2.10 a) for $\rho = 1$ and the

comparison test that i) and ii) in b) are equivalent and that these are equivalent to hypercyclicity of $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+\gamma}$ on $L^p(I)$. For $h(x)=F'(x)+\gamma$ and $\rho(x)=1$ it follows that for $\rho_{t,p}$ and $\rho_{-t,p}$ from definition 1.2.3 we have

$$\forall t \geq 0, x \in (a, b): \quad \rho_{t,p}(x) = \chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x) h_t^p(\varphi(-t, x)) \partial_2 \varphi(-t, x)$$

as well as

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in (a, b): \quad \rho_{-t, p}(x) = h_t^{-p}(x) \partial_2 \varphi(t, x).$$

Observe that for $h(x) = F'(x) + \gamma$ we have by Proposition 0.4.8

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in (a, b): \quad h_t(x) = \exp(\gamma t + \int_0^t F'(\varphi(s, x)) \, ds) = e^{\gamma t} \partial_2 \varphi(t, x).$$

Moreover, because $\varphi(s+t,x) = \varphi(s,\varphi(t,x))$ for all $s,t \in \mathbb{R}$ and each $x \in (a,b)$ for which the involved quantities are defined it follows

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in (a, b): \quad \partial_2 \varphi(2t, x) = \partial_2 \varphi(t, \varphi(t, x)) \partial_2 \varphi(t, x)$$

and thus for every $x \in (a, b)$ we have

$$\forall t \geq 0: \quad \partial_2 \varphi(t, \varphi(t, x)) = \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(2t, x)}{\partial_2 \varphi(t, x)}$$

as well as

$$\forall t \geq 0: \quad 1 = \partial_2 \varphi(t, \varphi(-t, x)) \partial_2 \varphi(-t, x)$$

for every $x \in \varphi(t, I)$. Taking all this into account it follows

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in (a, b) : \quad \rho_{t, p}(x) = \chi_{\varphi(t, I)}(x) e^{p\gamma t} \left(\partial_2 \varphi(t, \varphi(-t, x))\right)^p \partial_2 \varphi(-t, x)$$
$$= \chi_{\varphi(t, I)}(x) e^{p\gamma t} \left(\partial_2 \varphi(-t, x)\right)^{1-p}$$

as well as

$$\begin{split} \forall\,t\geq 0, x\in(a,b): \quad \rho_{-t,p}(x) &= e^{-p\gamma t}\left(\partial_2\varphi(t,\varphi(t,x)\right)^{-p}\partial_2\varphi(t,x) \\ &= e^{-p\gamma t}\frac{\partial_2\varphi(t,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2\varphi(2t,x)^p}. \end{split}$$

By Theorem 1.2.10 a) $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+\gamma}$ is hypercyclic on $L^p(I)$ if and only if $\lambda(\Omega_0)=0$ and for every $m\in\mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1,\ldots,C_m of $I\setminus\Omega_0$, for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1,\ldots,x_m)\in\Pi_{j=1}^mC_j$ there is a sequence of positive numbers $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ tending to infinity such that

$$\forall 1 \le j \le m: \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{t_n,p}(x_j) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{-t_n,p}(x_j) = 0,$$

so that by the above considerations b) follows.

The proofs of part c) and d) of the theorem follow with the analogous arguments by referring to Theorem 1.2.10 b) and Theorem 1.2.9, respectively. \Box

So far, we have only considered γ to be a real constant. If $h \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$ we would like to have results such as the above theorem for the C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}(I)$ generated by

$$f \mapsto Ff' + hf$$
.

Since $h \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$ it follows that the corresponding multiplication operator

$$M_h: W^{1,p}(I) \to W^{1,p}(I), \qquad M_h(f) = hf$$

is well-defined and continuous. If we denote the generator of $S_{F,0}$ in $W^{1,p}(I)$ by (A, D(A)) it follows that $(A + M_h, D(A))$ generates a C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h}$ by Theorem 0.2.6 and this semigroup is given by

$$S_{F,h}(t)f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} T_n(t)f,$$
 (1.7)

with $T_0(t) = S_{F,0}(t)$ and

$$T_{n+1}(t)f = \int_0^t S_{F,0}(t-s)M_h T_n(s)fds$$
$$= \int_0^t h(\varphi(t-s,\cdot)) \Big(T_n(s)f\Big) (\varphi(t-s,\cdot))ds,$$

where the integrals are Riemann integrals in $W^{1,p}(I)$. In order to get an explicit description $\mathcal{S}_{F,h}$ we use the following result.

Proposition 1.3.7 *Let* $v : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$ *be continuous. Then*

$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N}_0, t \ge 0: \quad \int_0^t v(t-s) \left(\int_0^s v(t-s+r) dr \right)^n ds = \frac{1}{n+1} \left(\int_0^t v(s) ds \right)^{n+1}.$$

Proof. Setting $V(t) := \int_0^t v(s)ds$ it follows that

$$\int_{0}^{t} v(t-s) \left(\int_{0}^{s} v(t-s+r)dr \right)^{n} ds = \int_{0}^{t} V'(t-s) \left(V(t) - V(t-s) \right)^{n} ds$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} V^{k}(t) (-1)^{n-k} \int_{0}^{t} V'(u) V^{n-k}(u) du$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose k} V^{k}(t) (-1)^{n-k} \frac{1}{n+1-k} V^{n+1-k}(t)$$

$$= \frac{-1}{n+1} V^{n+1}(t) \sum_{k=0}^{n} {n+1 \choose k} (-1)^{n+1-k}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n+1} \left(\int_{0}^{t} v(s) ds \right)^{n+1}.$$

By applying Proposition 1.3.7 to $t \mapsto h(\varphi(t,x))$ with fixed $x \in [a,b]$ and since point evaluations in $W^{1,p}(I)$ are continuous it follows by induction on n that the above $T_n(t)$ in equation (1.7) are given by

$$T_n(t)f(x) = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\int_0^t h(\varphi(s,x))ds \right)^n S_{F,0}(t)f(x)$$

and therefore

$$\forall t > 0, f \in W^{1,p}(I) : S_{F,h}(t) f(x) = h_t(x) f(\varphi(t,x)),$$

where, we recall, $h_t(x) = \exp(\int_0^t h(\varphi(s,x))ds)$. Thus we obtain the next proposition.

Proposition 1.3.8 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval, $1 \le p < \infty, F:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^1 -function satisfying (H2)-(H3) with F(a)=0 and $h \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$. Then

$$A: \{f \in W^{1,p}(I); Ff'' \in L^p(I)\}, f \mapsto Ff' + hf$$

generates the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h}$ on $W^{1,p}(I)$ which is given by

$$\forall t \ge 0 : S_{F,h}(t)f(x) = h_t(x)f(\varphi(t,x)).$$

Moreover, $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ is $S_{F,h}$ -invariant.

Our next aim is to generalize the content of Theorem 1.3.6 to the C_0 -semigroups $S_{F,h}$, at least under some mild additional hypothesis. As in section 1.2 we need to find a measurable function $\psi:[a,b]\to\mathbb{R}$ such that $\exp\circ\psi$ induces a continuous,

invertible multiplication operator M on $W^{1,p}(I)$ and for some $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, for which C_0 -semigroups $S_{F,\gamma}$ and $S_{F,h}$ are conjugate via M, i.e.

$$\forall t \ge 0, f \in W^{1,p}(I) : \exp(\psi) S_{F,h}(t)(f) = S_{F,\gamma}(t)(\exp(\psi)f).$$
 (1.8)

(1.8) is satisfied if, for all $x \in [a, b]$,

$$\forall t \ge 0: \quad \psi(\varphi(t,x)) - \int_0^t \left(h(\varphi(s,x)) - \gamma \right) ds = \psi(x). \tag{1.9}$$

Now, if $x \in \Omega_0$ it follows from $\varphi(t, x) = x$ for all $t \ge 0$

$$\forall t \ge 0: \quad \psi(x) - t(h(x) - \gamma) = \psi(x).$$

Thus, since F(a) = 0 it is necessary that h(x) = h(a) for every $x \in \Omega_0$.

As in section 1.2, if the function $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$, $y \mapsto \frac{h(y)-h(a)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^1(a,b)$ we can set

$$\psi: [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}, \quad \psi(x) = \int_a^x \frac{h(y) - h(a)}{F(y)} dy$$

and it follows that this function ψ satisfies (1.9) on Ω_1 .

Proposition 1.3.9 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval, $1 \leq p < \infty, F:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^1 -function satisfying (H2)-(H3) with F(a)=0, and $h \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$. Assume that the following conditions are satisfied.

- $i) \ \forall x \in \Omega_0: \ h(x) = h(a) \in \mathbb{R}.$
- ii) The function $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$, $y \mapsto \frac{h(y)-h(a)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^{\infty}(I)$.

Then $\exp \circ \psi$ with $\psi : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$, $\psi(x) = \int_a^x \frac{h(y)-h(a)}{F(y)} dy$ defines a continuous, invertible multiplication operator M such that the C_0 -semigroups $\mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)}$ and $\mathcal{S}_{F,h}$ on $W^{1,p}(I)$ are conjugate via M.

Proof. By the observation preceding the proposition we only have to show that $\exp \circ \psi$ defines a continuous, invertible multiplication operator on $W^{1,p}(I)$. First we note that $\psi \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$ and therefore $\exp \circ \psi \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$, too. Hence,

$$M: W^{1,p}(I) \to W^{1,p}(I), \qquad Mf = \exp(\psi)f$$

is a well-defined continuous multiplication operator on $W^{1,p}(I)$ with continuous inverse given by $\exp(-\psi)f$.

Remark 1.3.10 In the discussion preceding the above proposition we only required that $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto \frac{h(y)-h(a)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^1(a,b)$. Nevertheless, it is not hard to show that this function actually has to belong to $L^{\infty}(a,b)$ in order for $\exp(\psi)$ to induce a bounded multiplication operator on $W^{1,p}(I)$.

Obviously, the multiplication operator M in the above proposition satisfies

$$M(W_*^{1,p}(I)) = W_*^{1,p}(I)$$

so that the restrictions of the C_0 -semigroups $\mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)}$ and $\mathcal{S}_{F,h}$ to $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ are conjugate via M, too. Combining Theorem 1.3.6 with Proposition 1.3.9 the next theorem follows directly from the comparison test.

Theorem 1.3.11 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval, $1 \leq p < \infty$, $F:[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ a C^1 -function satisfying (H2)-(H3) with F(a)=0 and $h \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$. Assume that

- 1) $\forall x \in \Omega_0 : h(x) = h(a) \in \mathbb{R}$.
- 2) The function $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto \frac{h(y)-h(a)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^{\infty}(I)$.

Then the following holds.

- a) The C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h}$ is not hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(I)$.
- b) On $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ the following are equivalent for the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h}$.
 - i) $S_{F,h}$ is weakly mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
 - ii) $S_{F,h}$ is hypercyclic on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
 - iii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1, \ldots, C_m of $I \setminus \Omega_0$, for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \Pi_{j=1}^m C_j$ there is a sequence of positive numbers $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ tending to infinity such that for every $1 \leq j \leq m$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \chi_{\varphi(t_n, I)}(x_j) e^{ph(a)t_n} \partial_2 \varphi(-t_n, x_j)^{1-p} = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} e^{-ph(a)t_n} \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(t_n, x_j)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2t_n, x_j)^p} = 0.$$

- c) On $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ the following are equivalent for the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h}$.
 - i) $S_{F,h}$ is mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
 - ii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for λ -almost every $x \in I$

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x)\,e^{ph(a)t}\,\partial_2\varphi(-t,x)^{1-p}=\lim_{t\to\infty}e^{-ph(a)t}\frac{\partial_2\varphi(t,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2\varphi(2t,x)^p}=0.$$

- d) On $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ the following are equivalent for the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h}$.
 - i) $S_{F,h}$ is chaotic on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$,
 - ii) $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which there are m different connected components C_1, \ldots, C_m of $I \setminus \Omega_0$, for λ^m -almost all choices of $(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \Pi_{j=1}^m C_j$ there is t > 0 such that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \chi_{\varphi(lt,I)}(x) \, e^{ph(a)lt} \, \partial_2 \varphi(-lt,x)^{1-p} + \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} e^{-ph(a)lt} \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(lt,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2lt,x)^p} < \infty$$
 for every $1 \le j \le m$.

Instead of formulating analogues to Corollary 1.2.6 for $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ we apply our results to some concrete examples in the next section.

1.4 The Lasota equation

We close this chapter by analyzing the solution semigroup (1.2) of the Lasota equation (1.1) in the light of our result. We will cover the result mentioned in section 1.1.

1.4.1 von Foerster-Lasota equation

Consider for a complex valued function $h \in C(0,1) \cap L^{\infty}(0,1)$ the von Foerster-Lasota equation, that is the first order partial differential equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(t,x) + x\frac{\partial}{\partial x}u(t,x) = h(x)\,u(t,x), \quad t \ge 0, \, 0 < x < 1$$

with the initial condition

$$u(0, x) = v(x), \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

where v is a given function.

If we set F(x) = -x and Au = Fu' + hu, for every $u \in D(A)$, where

$$D(A) = \{ u \in L^p(0,1) \mid xu' \in L^p(0,1) \},\$$

then by Theorem 1.2.17, (A, D(A)) generates in $L^p(0,1)$ the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_h = (T_h(t))_{t\geq 0}$ defined by

$$T_h u(x) = \exp\left(\int_{-t}^0 h(xe^s)ds\right) u(xe^{-t}), \qquad t \ge 0, \ u \in L^p(0,1), \ x \in (0,1).$$

If $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$, in view of Proposition 1.3.8 it is again natural to apply also our results from section 1.3. We call the resulting C_0 -semigroup the von Foerster-Lasota semigroup on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$, respectively $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$, associated with h and denote it by S_h . The dynamical properties of these semigroups are given in the next theorem.

Theorem 1.4.1

- a) Let h be in $C(0,1) \cap L^{\infty}(0,1)$. Then the following properties of the associated von Foerster-Lasota semigroup \mathcal{T}_h on $L^p(0,1)$ are equivalent.
 - i) \mathcal{T}_h is hypercyclic.
 - ii) \mathcal{T}_h is weakly mixing.
 - iii) There is a sequence $(\alpha_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in (0,1) converging to zero such that for some $x_0\in(0,1)$

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{\alpha_n}^{x_0}\frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y)+\frac{1}{p}}{y}dy=+\infty.$$

b) Assume that for $h \in C[0,1]$ the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{x}$$

belongs to $L^1(0,1)$. Then the following properties of the associated von Foerster-Lasota semigroup \mathcal{T}_h on $L^p(0,1)$ are equivalent.

- i) \mathcal{T}_h is hypercyclic.
- ii) \mathcal{T}_h is weakly mixing.
- iii) \mathcal{T}_h is mixing.
- iv) \mathcal{T}_h is chaotic.
- v) Re $h(0) > -\frac{1}{n}$.
- c) Assume that for $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - h(0)}{x}$$

belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,1)$ and that $h(0) \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the von Foerster-Lasota semigroup \mathcal{S}_h is not hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$. For the restriction of \mathcal{S}_h to $W^{1,p}_*(0,1)$ the following are equivalent.

- i) S_h is hypercyclic on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- ii) S_h is weakly mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- iii) S_h is mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- iv) S_h is chaotic on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- $v) h(0) > 1 \frac{1}{p}.$

Proof. For F(x)=-x we have $\varphi(t,x)=xe^{-t}$ and thus the hypotheses of Theorem 1.2.15 are satisfied.

Proof of part a). Since $(0,1) \to \mathbb{R}$, $x \mapsto \frac{\operatorname{Im} h(x)}{x}$ belongs to $L^1(\beta,1)$ for each $\beta \in (0,1)$ part a) is obviously a direct application of Theorem 1.2.15 a).

Proof of part b). Since the hypotheses of a) are satisfied, it follows that i) and ii) are equivalent and that because of $h \in C[0,1]$ i) holds if and only if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\alpha_n}^1 \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy = +\infty$$
 (1.10)

for some $(\alpha_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in (0,1) converging to 0. Since

$$\int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy = \int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy + \int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} (h(y) - h(0))}{y} dy$$
$$= -\left(\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{1}{p}\right) \ln(\alpha_n) + \int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} (h(y) - h(0))}{y} dy$$

it follows from the hypothesis on h that (1.10) holds if and only if $\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{1}{p} > 0$. Hence, i), ii), and v) in b) are equivalent. As iii) and iv) imply i), respectively, it remains to prove that v) implies iii) and iv).

Let us denote by c the $L^1(0,1)$ -norm of the L^1 -function $x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{x}$. If v) holds, it follows that for each $x \in (0,1), t > 0$, and $l \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$\exp\left(p\int_{x}^{xe^{-lt}}\frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y)+\frac{1}{p}}{y}dy\right) = \exp\left(-p\int_{xe^{-lt}}^{x}\frac{\operatorname{Re}h(0)+\frac{1}{p}}{y}dy\right)\cdot$$

$$\cdot\exp\left(-p\int_{xe^{-lt}}^{x}\frac{\operatorname{Re}(h(y)-h(0))}{y}dy\right) \quad (1.11)$$

$$\leq e^{-ptl\left(\operatorname{Re}h(0)+\frac{1}{p}\right)}e^{pc}.$$

Because of v) it follows that for every $x \in (0,1)$ and t > 0

$$\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(p \int_{x}^{xe^{-lt}} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy\right) < \infty,$$

hence \mathcal{T}_h is chaotic by part c) of Theorem 1.2.15.

In order to show that v) implies iii) we observe that as in the inequality (1.11) we obtain for each $x \in (0,1)$ and $t \ge 0$

$$\exp\left(p\int_x^{xe^{-t}}\frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y)+\frac{1}{p}}{y}dy\right) \le e^{-ptl\left(\operatorname{Re}h(0)+\frac{1}{p}\right)}e^{pc},$$

so that by part b) of Theorem 1.2.15 iii) holds. Hence, b) is proved.

Proof of part c). That S_h is not hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$ follows immediately from Theorem 1.3.11. As $[0,1] \setminus \Omega_0$ has only one connected component, $\chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x) = 0$ for every $x \in (0,1]$ for sufficiently large t > 0, and

$$\forall x \in (0,1]: \quad e^{-ph(0)t} \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2t,x)^p} = e^{-t(1+(h(0)-1)p)}$$

П

the rest of c) now follows from Theorem 1.3.11 b),c), and d).

Remark 1.4.2 i) Of course Theorem 1.2.15 also provides characterizations of mixing and chaos for \mathcal{T}_h under the general hypotheses of part a) of the above theorem.

- ii) It should be noted that the proof of part b) remains valid if we replace the hypothesis $h \in C[0,1]$ by $h \in C(0,1) \cap L^{\infty}(0,1)$, h continuously extendable into the origin.
- iii) The hypothesis in c) is obviously satisfied if $h(0) \in \mathbb{R}$ and h is differentiable at the origin.

Remark 1.4.3 Observe that if $\alpha = 1 - \frac{1}{p}$, then $W^{1,p}(I) \hookrightarrow h^{\alpha}(0,1)$ continuously and thus $W^{1,p}_*(I) \hookrightarrow V_{\alpha}$. Moreover they are dense. As a consequence, by Theorem 1.4.1, if $h(0) > \alpha = 1 - 1/p$, then the C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T}_h is mixing and chaotic on V_{α} and we obtain the result of Theorem 1.1.1.

1.4.2 Generalization of von Foerster-Lasota equation

Let us consider for $h \in C(0,1) \cap L^{\infty}(0,1)$ and r>1 the first order partial differential equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(t,x) + x^r \frac{\partial}{\partial x}u(t,x) = h(x)u(t,x), \quad t \ge 0, \ 0 < x < 1$$

with the initial condition

$$u(0,x) = v(x), \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

where v is a given function. As for $F(x) = -x^r$ we have

$$\varphi(t,x) = ((r-1)t + x^{1-r})^{\frac{1}{1-r}}$$

and therefore $\varphi([0,\infty),(0,1)) \subseteq (0,1)$, it is again natural to consider our results from section 1.2 for I = (0,1) and h and the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p(0,1)$. We write $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ instead of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$.

Again, if $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$, in view of Proposition 1.3.8 it is natural to apply our results from section 1.3. The corresponding C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$, respectively $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$ is denoted by $\mathcal{S}_{r,h}$. The next theorem summarizes the dynamical properties of these semigroups. Observe that contrary to the von Foerster-Lasota semigroup the dynamical properties of $\mathcal{S}_{r,h}$ are independent of p.

Theorem 1.4.4

- a) Let h belong to $C(0,1) \cap L^{\infty}(0,1)$. Then the following properties of the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ on $L^p(0,1)$ are equivalent.
 - i) $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is hypercyclic.
 - ii) $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is weakly mixing.
 - iii) There is a sequence $(r_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in (0,1) converging to zero such that for some $x_0\in(0,1)$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{r_n}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{r}{p} y^{r-1}}{y^r} dy = \infty.$$

b) Assume that for $h \in C[0,1]$ the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - x^{r-1} \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{x^r}$$

belongs to $L^1(0,1)$. Then the following properties of $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ on $L^p(0,1)$ are equivalent.

- i) $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is hypercyclic.
- ii) $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is weakly mixing.
- iii) $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is mixing.
- *iv*) Re $h(0) > \frac{-r}{p}$.

Moreover $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is chaotic if and only if $Reh(0) > -\frac{1}{p}$.

c) Assume that for $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - h(0)}{x^r}$$

belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,1)$ and that $h(0) \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the C_0 -semigroup $S_{r,h}$ is not hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$. For the restriction of $S_{r,h}$ to $W^{1,p}_*(0,1)$ the following are equivalent.

- i) $S_{r,h}$ is hypercyclic on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- ii) $S_{r,h}$ is weakly mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.

- iii) $S_{r,h}$ is mixing on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- iv) $S_{r,h}$ is chaotic on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- v) h(0) > 0.

Proof. For $F(x)=-x^r$ we have $\varphi(t,x)=((r-1)t+x^{1-r})^{\frac{1}{1-r}}$ and thus the hypotheses of Theorem 1.2.15 are satisfied. The proofs of parts a) and b) are mutatis mutandis the same as the corresponding parts of Theorem 1.4.1. In fact, the part a) is a direct consequence of Theorem 1.2.15 a) taking into account that $(0,1)\to\mathbb{R},\ x\mapsto \frac{\mathrm{Im}\,h(x)}{x}$ belongs to $L^1(\beta,1)$ for each $\beta\in(0,1)$.

In the following we show the main calculations behind of the proof of part b). It is based on the result of part a) and the fact that $h \in C[0,1]$ and

$$(0,1) \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - x^{r-1} \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{x^r}$$

belongs to $L^1(0,1)$, obviously i) and ii) are equivalent. Since $h \in C[0,1]$ i) holds if and only if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\alpha_n}^1 \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{r}{p} y^{r-1}}{y^r} dy = +\infty$$
 (1.12)

for some $(\alpha_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in (0,1) converging to 0. Since

$$\int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{r}{p} y^{r-1}}{y^r} dy = \int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(0) y^{r-1} + \frac{r}{p} y^{r-1}}{y^r} dy + \int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - y^{r-1} \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{y^r} dy
= -\left(\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{r}{p}\right) \ln(\alpha_n) + \int_{\alpha_n}^{1} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - y^{r-1} \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{y^r} dy$$

it follows from the hypothesis on h that (1.12) holds if and only if $\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{r}{p} > 0$. Hence, i), ii), and iv) in b) are equivalent. As iii) and chaos imply i), respectively, it remains to prove that iv) implies iii) and chaos implies $\operatorname{Re} h(0) > -\frac{1}{p}$.

Let us denote by c the $L^1(0,1)$ -norm of the L^1 -function $x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - x^{r-1} \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{x^r}$. $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is chaotic if and only if there exists $x_0 \in (0,1)$ such that for every $x \in (0,1)$ and t > 0

$$\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} exp\left(-p\int_{\varphi(lt,x)}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re}h(y) + \frac{r}{p}y^{r-1}}{y^r} dy\right) < \infty \tag{1.13}$$

For each $x \in (0,1), t > 0$, and $l \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$-p \int_{\varphi(lt,x)}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) + \frac{r}{p} y^{r-1}}{y^r} dy = p \int_{x_0}^{\varphi(lt,x)} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(y) - y^{r-1} \operatorname{Re} h(0)}{y^r} dy + p \int_{x_0}^{\varphi(lt,x)} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{r}{p}}{y} dy$$

$$\leq pc + p \left(\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{r}{p} \right) \log \left(\frac{\varphi(tl,x)}{x_0} \right).$$

$$(1.14)$$

Hence iii) holds by iv) and part b) of Theorem 1.2.15 for $\alpha = 0$. Moreover,

$$\exp\left(-p\int_{\varphi(lt,x)}^{x_0} \frac{\operatorname{Re} h(0) + \frac{r}{p}}{y} dy\right) = \frac{1}{x_0^{\operatorname{PRe} h(0) + r}} \left[(r-1)lt + x^{1-r} \right]^{\frac{\operatorname{PRe} h(0) + r}{1 - r}},$$

and therefore the series in (1.13) converges if and only if

$$\frac{p\operatorname{Re}h(0)+r}{1-r}<-1,$$

that is $\operatorname{Re} h(0) > \frac{-1}{p}$.

We just need to prove that part c). For this, observe that $\chi_{\varphi(t,I)}(x)=0$ for every $x\in(0,1]$ for sufficiently large t>0 and $[0,1]\setminus\Omega_0$ has only one connected component. As

$$\forall t \ge 0, x \in (0,1]: \qquad \partial_2 \varphi(t,x) = x^{-r} ((r-1)t + x^{1-r})^{\frac{r}{1-r}}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \forall \, t \geq 0, x \in (0,1] : & & \exp(-ph(0)t) \frac{\partial_2 \varphi(t,x)^{1+p}}{\partial_2 \varphi(2t,x)^p} \\ & = & & \exp(-ph(0)t)t^{-\frac{r}{r-1}} \frac{(2(r-1) + \frac{1}{x^{r-1}t})^{\frac{pr}{r-1}}}{x^r((r-1) + \frac{1}{x^{r-1}t})^{\frac{(p+1)r}{r-1}}}. \end{aligned}$$

Now the proof follows again as the proof of part c) of Theorem 1.4.1. In fact, that $S_{r,h}$ is not hypercyclic on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$ follows immediately from Theorem 1.3.11, the rest of c) now follows from Theorem 1.3.11 b),c), and d).

The interest in this generalization of the von Foerster-Lasota equation was originated in the result [36, Theorem 3.1] characterizing and comparing our results in

this particular case. Moreover, the parameter r > 1 gives another point of view of this equation. In fact, the case r = 1 has properties like the equivalence between hypercyclicity and chaos, it is not the case for r > 1 on L^p if, for example,

$$\frac{-r}{p} < \operatorname{Re} h(0) \le \frac{-1}{p}.$$

Open Problem 1.4.5 Recently Kalmes in [47, 48] studied the Frequent hypercyclic criterion (see [51]) for the C_0 -semigroups considered in this chapter. Actually, Kalmes shows under mild assumptions on F and h an equivalence between satisfying the Frequent Hypercyclic Criterion and Devaney chaos on Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces. A natural progression of our studies would be to investigate whether Kalmes conditions can be furtherly relaxed.

Chapter 2

Stable semiflow semigroups in Lebesgue spaces

The aim of this chapter is to provide characterizations of stability for strongly continuous semigroups induced by semiflows on $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$, on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ and on $W^{1,p}(I)$ for a bounded interval $I := (a,b) \subset \mathbb{R}$.

This chapter was motivated by a question of Thomas Kalmes, namely whether, for this kind of C_0 -semigroups, stability with not hypercyclicity, are equivalent. In particular cases such as Lasota equation this holds but, as we will see, it is not true in general.

Many authors studied these kind of semigroups in this sense, for example, we can find results about stability applied on a different contexts given by Dawidowicz et al. in [27, 36, 37].

First, we will present these known results in order to compare them with ours. Even though we start with the multidimensional case, we will concentrate on the one-dimensional case and, in particular, we give characterizations for $\rho(x)=1$ on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ and on $W^{1,p}(I)$. To finish we will apply our results to the same examples of the previous chapter.

Without loss of generality, throughout this chapter, we consider $h \in C(\Omega)$ real valued. We will give an argument to assume h complex valued based on the previous case. We will write stable C_0 -semigroup or simply stable if we consider strongly stability property of the Definition 0.3.5 and we will specify in the case of exponential stability property.

The contents of this chapter have been included in [4].

2.1 State of the art

We go back to the setting that has been described in section 0.1.

Keeping the same notation for the semigroups and the involved space, we recall the following two results about stability of von Foerster-Lasota semigroups and of its multidimensional generalization:

Theorem 2.1.1 ([36]) Let $h:[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function and let \mathcal{T} be the semigroup defined in (1.2).

- (i) If exist C, q > 0 such that $|h(x) h(0)| \leq Cx^q$ for all $x \in [0, 1]$ and $h(0) \leq -\frac{1}{n}$, \mathcal{T} is strongly stable on $L^p(0, 1)$.
- (ii) If exist C > 0 such that $|h(x) h(0)| \le Cx$ for all $x \in [0,1]$ and $h(0) \le 1 \frac{1}{p}$, \mathcal{T} is strongly stable on V_{α} .

Moreover, we obtain the property exponentially stable for \mathcal{T} if $h(0) < -\frac{1}{p}$ and $h(0) < 1 - \frac{1}{p}$, respectively.

For an argument of complexification we can extend these results for $h:[0,1]\to\mathbb{C}$ continuous function. All these results will be consequence of our results.

We finish with the equation (1.3) on the multidimensional case on certain compact set D of \mathbb{R}^d .

Theorem 2.1.2 ([37]) Let \mathcal{T} be the C_0 -semigroup solution of the equation (1.3) on $L^p(D)$. If $\gamma \leq -\frac{1}{p} \limsup_{x \to 0} (\nabla \cdot c)(x)$ then \mathcal{T} is strongly stable on $L^p(D)$.

Moreover, for strict inequality we obtain the property exponentially stable for \mathcal{T} .

Remark 2.1.3 Comparing these results with the previous ones given in section 1.1, we obtain stability for the equation (1.1) if and only if it is not chaotic, in particular not hypercyclic. These properties have complementary behaviour for this equation.

It is not the case for equation (1.3), unless the limit superior and limit inferior coincide, i.e., if and only if $\lim_{x\to 0} (\nabla \cdot c)(x)$ exists.

2.2 Multidimensional case on Lebesgue spaces

In this section we will consider the multidimensional setting that we mentioned in Remark 1.2.4. We start by recalling some basic properties. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ be an open set and let $\varphi: [0, \infty[\times \Omega \to \Omega]$ be a semiflow according to Definition 0.4.1. Moreover let $h: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. Define for every $t \geq 0$:

$$h_t: \Omega \to (0, +\infty), \quad x \to \exp\left(\int_0^t h(\varphi(s, x))ds\right).$$

Let $\rho:\Omega\to(0,+\infty)$ be a λ^d -measurable locally integrable function and let $1\le p<\infty.$ Define

$$(T(t)f)(x) := h_t(x)f(\varphi(t,x)), \qquad f \in L^p_\rho(\Omega), \ x \in \Omega, \ t \ge 0$$
 (2.1)

If φ is continuously differentiable, in [45, Proposition 4.12, Theorem 4.7], it has been proved that $\mathcal{T} = (T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a C_0 -semigroup in $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ if and only if there exists M > 1 and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for every t > 0 the following inequality holds

$$|h_t|^p \rho \leq M e^{\omega t} \rho(\varphi(t,\cdot)) |\det D\varphi(t,\cdot)|, \lambda \text{-a.e. on } \Omega,$$

where λ denotes Lebesgue measure and $D\varphi(t,\cdot)$ is the Jacobian of $\varphi(t,\cdot)$, or equivalently

$$\chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)}\frac{h_t^p(\varphi(-t,\cdot))\rho(\varphi(-t,\cdot))|\mathrm{det}D\varphi(-t,\cdot)|}{\rho}\leq Me^{t\omega} \qquad \lambda-\mathrm{a.e.},$$

where $\varphi(-t,\cdot)$ is the inverse function of $\varphi(t,\cdot)$ and $D\varphi(-t,\cdot)$ is its Jacobian. In this case ρ is said to be a p-admissible weight and for every $t \geq 0$:

$$||T(t)|| = \left\| \frac{\rho_{t,p}}{\rho} \right\|_{\infty}, \tag{2.2}$$

where

$$\rho_{t,p} = \chi_{\varphi(t,\Omega)} |h_t(\varphi(-t,\cdot))|^p \rho(\varphi(-t,\cdot)) |\det D\varphi(-t,\cdot)|.$$

Our aim is to characterize the stability of the C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T} on $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$, namely when

$$\forall f \in L^p_\rho(\Omega)$$
 $\lim_{t \to +\infty} ||T_t f||_p = 0.$

Theorem 2.2.1 Let Ω be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d , φ a continuously differentiable semiflow on Ω , $h \in C(\Omega)$, ρ a p-admissible function, and let \mathcal{T} be the semigroup on $L_{\rho}^p(\Omega)$ defined by (2.1). Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) \mathcal{T} is stable on $L_o^p(\Omega)$,
- (ii) It holds:
 - (1) \mathcal{T} is bounded.
 - (2) for every bounded interval $Q \subseteq \Omega$, it holds

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} \rho_{t,p}(x) dx = 0.$$

Proof. Observe that, by (2.2), \mathcal{T} is bounded if and only if $\sup_{t\geq 0} \left\| \frac{\rho_{t,p}}{\rho} \right\|_{\infty} < +\infty$.

Then \mathcal{T} is stable on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ if and only if

$$\lim_{t\to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} \left|h_t(x)f(\varphi(t,x))\right|^p \rho(x) dx = 0, \qquad \forall f\in L^p_\rho(\Omega),$$

or, equivalently, with a change of variable (see also the argument in the proof of [45, Proposition 3.11]):

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} |f(y)|^p \rho_{t,p}(y) dy = 0 \qquad \forall f \in L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$$

that is

$$\lim_{t\to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} |g(y)| \rho_{t,p}(y) dy = 0. \qquad \forall g\in L^1_{\rho}(\Omega).$$

By applying the previous to $g^+ = g \vee 0$ and $g^- = g \wedge 0$, we get that it is equivalent to

$$\lim_{t\to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} g(x) \frac{\rho_{t,p}(x)}{\rho(x)} \rho(x) dx = 0. \qquad \forall g \in L^1_{\rho}(\Omega).$$

namely, $\frac{\rho_{t,p}(x)}{\rho(x)} \to 0$ with respect to the w^* -topology on $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ induced by $L^1_{\rho}(\Omega)$. Since the function $t \mapsto \rho_{t,p} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is locally bounded, the last assertion is equivalent to (ii) by Lemma 0.5.2.

We will use this result to give simplified versions of condition (ii) and obtain characterizations for one-dimensional case and Sobolev spaces with $\rho = 1$.

We have considered until now the real-valued case. To finish this section, we consider an argument to assume h complex valued based on real valued case.

Remark 2.2.2 If we consider $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega,\mathbb{C})$, $h \in C(\Omega,\mathbb{C})$ and $\varphi(t,x)$ a semiflow satisfying (H2)-(H3), then we define for every $f \in L^p_{\rho}(\Omega,\mathbb{C})$ and every $t \geq 0$

$$T_h^{\mathbb{C}}(t)(f)(x) = \exp\left(\int_0^t h(\varphi(s,x))\right) f(\varphi(x,t)).$$

If ρ is admissible, then $\mathcal{T}_h^{\mathbb{C}} = (T_h^{\mathbb{C}}(t))_{t \geq 0}$ is a strongly continuous semigroup. We consider, for every $f \in L_\rho^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and $t \geq 0$

$$T_{\mathrm{Re}h}^{\mathbb{R}}(t)(f)(x) = \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{Re}h(\varphi(s,x))\right) f(\varphi(x,t)).$$

It holds that $\mathcal{T}_h^{\mathbb{C}}$ is stable if and only if $\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{Re}h}^{\mathbb{R}}$ is stable.

Indeed, if $f \in L^p_\rho(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, then

$$|T_h^{\mathbb{C}}(t)(f)(x)| = |T_{\mathrm{Re}h}^{\mathbb{R}}(t)(f)(x)|$$

and we get immediately that if $\mathcal{T}_h^{\mathbb{C}}$ is stable then $\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{Re}h}^{\mathbb{R}}$ is stable. Conversely, if $f \in L^p_{\rho}(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$, then $|f| \in L^p_{\rho}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ and

$$|T_h^{\mathbb{C}}(t)(f)(x)| = |T_{\mathrm{Re}h}^{\mathbb{R}}(t)(|f|)(x)|$$

and again we get that if $\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{Re}h}^{\mathbb{R}}$ is stable, then $\mathcal{T}_{h}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is stable too.

2.3 One-dimensional case on Lebesgue spaces

We now consider the case $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$, with more details, referring to the assumptions (H1)-(H3) in section 0.1 and the notation in section 1.2.

A first consequence of Theorem 2.2.1 is a characterization of stability for the C_0 semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$ for real valued h.

Theorem 2.3.1 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be open, F satisfying (H1)-(H3) and let ρ be p-admissible measurable function for F and h. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p_o(\Omega)$,
- ii) It holds:
 - (1) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is bounded;
 - (2) $\lim_{t\to+\infty} \rho_{t,p}(x) = 0$ for λ -a.e. $x \in \Omega_1$
 - (3) if $\lambda(\Omega_0) > 0$, h(x) < 0 λ -a.e. in Ω_0 .

Proof. As usual, let us define the following subsets of Ω :

$$\Omega_0 := \{ x \in \Omega \mid F(x) = 0 \}, \qquad \Omega_1 = \Omega \setminus \Omega_0.$$

Moreover we define

$$X_i = \{ f \in L_o^p(\Omega) \mid f = 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega_i \}, \quad i = 0, 1.$$

Clearly we can identify X_i with $L^p_o(\Omega_i)$ and

$$L^p_{\rho}(\Omega) = X_0 \oplus X_1 = L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_0) \oplus L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_1).$$

If $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$, then X_0 reduces to $\{0\}$ and $L^p_\rho(\Omega)$ can be identified with $L^p_\rho(\Omega_1)$.

For every $x_0 \in \Omega_0$ we have that $\varphi(t, x_0) = x_0$ for every $t \ge 0$. By the uniqueness of the solutions of the initial value problems

$$\dot{x} = F(x), \ x(0) = x_0 \ (x_0 \in \Omega),$$

 $\varphi(t,\Omega_0) \subseteq \Omega_0$ and $\varphi(t,\Omega_1) \subseteq \Omega_1$. This implies that $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_i)$ is invariant under $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ for i=0,1. Thus we can define $\mathcal{T}^i_{F,h} = \mathcal{T}_{F,h|L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_i)}$ and we can write

$$\mathcal{T}_{F,h} = \mathcal{T}_{F,h}^0 \oplus \mathcal{T}_{F,h}^1$$
.

Clearly $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega)$ if and only if $\mathcal{T}^i_{F,h}$, i=0,1, are stable on $L^p_{\rho}(\Omega_i)$.

Observe moreover that $T^0_{F,h}(t)(f)(x) = \exp(th(x))f(x)$ for every $f \in L^p_\rho(\Omega_0)$ and $x \in \Omega_0$.

" \Rightarrow ": Let $x \in \Omega_1$ such that $F(x) \neq 0$. If F(x) > 0 there exists r > 0 such that $[x, x + r] \subseteq \Omega_1$ with F(s) > 0 for $s \in [x, x + r]$. By Lemma 1.2.5, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) \le C\rho_{t,p}(s)$$
 a.e. $s \in [x, x+r]$,

hence

$$\rho_{t,p}(x) = \frac{1}{r} \int_{x}^{x+r} \rho_{t,p}(x) ds \le \frac{C}{r} \int_{x}^{x+r} \rho_{t,p}(s) ds,$$

and therefore, by assumption and Theorem 2.2.1, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \rho_{t,p}(x) = 0$. If F(x) < 0, we consider an interval [x-r,x] with F(s) < 0 for $s \in [x-r,x]$ and we get the assertion again by Lemma 1.2.5 arguing as in the case F(x) > 0.

By the stability of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}^0$, we get that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{\Omega_0} e^{pth(x)} |f(x)|^p \rho(x) dx = 0$$

hence either $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ or if $\lambda(\Omega_0) > 0$ we have h(x) < 0 λ -a.e. in Ω_0 .

By the previous argument, in the case that $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ the condition (3) is not necessary and the only restrictions over h are given by condition (1), in particular for $x \in \Omega_0$ it is equivalent to $h(x) \leq \frac{1}{p}F'(x)$.

"\(\epsilon\)": By (1) and (3), there exists M > 0 such that $\rho_{t,p}(s) \leq M\rho(s)$ a.e. in Ω . Then, for every $f \in L^p_\rho(\Omega_1)$, we have that being ρ locally integrable on Ω , we can apply the dominated convergence theorem to get that for any $f \in L^p_\rho(\Omega_1)$:

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\int_{\Omega_1}|T^1_{F,h}(t)(f)(x)|^p\rho(x)dx=\lim_{t\to\infty}\int_{\Omega_1}|f(s)|^p\rho_{t,p}(s)ds=0,$$

by using the change of variable $x = \varphi(-t, s)$, and the invariance of Ω_1 under $\varphi(-t, \cdot)$, that is $T^1_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p_o(\Omega_1)$.

On the other hand, if $\lambda(\Omega_0) > 0$ and being h < 0 a.e. in Ω_0 , we get, again by the dominated convergence theorem, that T_{Fh}^0 is stable, too.

Example 2.3.2 (Left translation semigroup) Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$, F = 1, and h = 0 so that $\varphi(t,x) = x + t$ where $\varphi(t,\mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}$ and $h_t(x) = 1$. As we commented, ρ is p-admissible for F and h for some $p \in [1,\infty)$ if the same holds for every $p \in [1,\infty)$. Consider then, the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L_p^p(\mathbb{R})$ defined by $(T_{F,h}(t)f)(x) = f(x+t)$ and remember that its generator is an extension of

$$C_c^1(\mathbb{R}) \to L_\rho^p(\mathbb{R}), f \mapsto f'.$$

Moreover, we have $\Omega_0 = \emptyset$ and $\rho_{t,p}(x) = \rho(x-t)$.

By Theorem 2.3.1, $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p_{\rho}(\mathbb{R})$ if and only if for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$ exists a real finite constant $C \geq 0$ such that

$$\rho(x-t) \le C\rho(x), \ \forall t \ \text{and} \ \lim_{t \to \infty} \rho(x-t) = 0.$$

Or equivalently, for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$ exists a real finite constant $C \geq 0$ such that

$$\rho(x-t) \leq C\rho(x), \ \forall t \ \text{and} \ \lim_{x \to -\infty} \rho(x) = 0.$$

This condition is independent of p.

From this example follows that if we consider an increasing p-admissible weight with the property $\lim_{t\to-\infty} \rho(t) \neq 0$, then the left translation semigroup is not stable and not hypercyclic.

Example 2.3.3 Let again $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$, F(x) := 1 - x, h(x) = 0 so that $\varphi(t, x) = 1 + (x - 1)e^{-t}$, $h_t(x) = 1$, where $\varphi(t, \mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}$ and $\partial_2 \varphi(t, x) = e^{-t}$. Recall that in this case $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is given by $(T_{F,h}(t)f)(x) = f(1 + (x - 1)e^{-t})$ with generator being an extension of

$$C_c^1(\mathbb{R}) \to L_\rho^p(\mathbb{R}), f \mapsto (x \mapsto (1-x)f'(x)).$$

Furthermore, $\mathbb{R} \setminus \Omega_0 = (-\infty, 1) \cup (1, \infty)$ with $\lambda(\Omega_0) = 0$ and

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{R} : \rho_{t,p}(x) = \rho(1 + (x - 1)e^t)e^t,$$

Arguing as in the previous example with the p-admissibility condition, Theorem 2.3.1 gives stable behaviour of $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p_\rho(\mathbb{R})$ if and only if for every $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{-1\}$ there exists a real finite constant $C \geq 0$ such that

$$\rho(1 + (x - 1)e^t)e^t \le C\rho(x), \ \forall t \text{ and } \lim_{t \to \infty} \rho(1 + (x - 1)e^t)e^t = 0.$$

Or equivalently, there exist a real finite constant $C \geq 0$ such that

$$\rho(1+(x-1)e^t)e^t \leq C\rho(x), \ \forall t \geq 0, \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{-1\} \ \text{and} \ \lim_{|r| \to \infty} \rho(r)r = 0.$$

Now, if we distinguish between $\varphi(t,\Omega) = \Omega$ and $\varphi(t,\Omega) \subseteq \Omega$ then we can avoid one of the above conditions.

Corollary 2.3.4 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be open, F satisfying (H1)-(H3) and let ρ be p-admissible measurable function for F and h. Assume that

$$\forall x \in \Omega_1, \ \exists \ \overline{t} > 0 : x \notin \varphi(\overline{t}, \Omega).$$

where φ is the semiflow associated with F. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $T_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p_o(\Omega)$,
- (ii) It holds:
 - (1) $T_{F,h}$ is bounded,
 - (2) if $\lambda(\Omega_0) > 0$, h(x) < 0 λ -a.e. in Ω_0 .

Proof. Simply observe that the assumption implies that $x \notin \varphi(t,\Omega)$ for every $t > \overline{t}$ and for every $x \in \Omega_1$, and therefore $\lim_{t \to \infty} \rho_{t,p}(x) = 0$.

Remark 2.3.5 A concrete example in which the assumption of the previous corollary are satisfied is the case in which $\Omega = (0,1)$ and F(x) = -x, corresponding to the Lasota semigroup. Then $\varphi(t,x) = e^{-t}x$ and, for every t > 0,

$$\varphi(t,(0,1)) = (0,e^{-t}).$$

Therefore, for every $x \in (0,1)$, choosing $\bar{t} > -\log x$, we get that $x \notin \varphi(\bar{t},\Omega)$.

In order to use this result on section 2.4, we assume $\rho = 1$ to simplify the conditions.

By applying Corollary 1.2.6, a straightforward calculation gives the following characterization.

Theorem 2.3.6 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be open, F satisfying (H1)-(H3) and assume that $\rho = 1$ is a p-admissible function for F and h. Assume that $F(x) \neq 0$ for every $x \in \Omega$.

- (1) If $\varphi(t,\Omega) = \Omega$ for every t > 0, then t.f.a.e.:
 - (i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p(\Omega)$;
 - (ii) It holds,
 - (a) there exists $C \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p}F'(s)}{F(s)} ds \le C \quad a.e. \ y \in \Omega, \ t \ge 0,$$

or, equivalently, $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is bounded;

(b) for every $y \in \Omega$

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p} F'(s)}{F(s)} ds = -\infty.$$

(2) If

$$\forall x \in \Omega_1 \; \exists \; \overline{t} > 0 \qquad x \notin \varphi(\overline{t}, \Omega).$$

then t.f.a.e.:

- (i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable on $L^p(\Omega)$;
- (ii) there exists $C \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p}F'(s)}{F(s)} ds \le C \quad a.e. \ y \in \Omega, \ t \ge 0,$$

or, equivalently, $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is bounded.

We would like now to compare the previous stability conditions with hypercyclicity or mixing condition. Clearly if a semigroup is hypercyclic, then it cannot be stable and, in general, a semigroup can be not stable and not hypercyclic. Indeed, if we consider a semigroup $T_{F,h}$ such that $\lambda(\Omega_0) > 0$ and h(x) > 0 on Ω_0 then we get a semigroup which is not stable by Theorem 2.3.1 and not hypercyclic by Theorem 1.2.10.

Nevertheless, there are cases in which stability and not hypercyclicity are equivalent. We analyze with details the case $\rho = 1$ and F < 0.

Theorem 2.3.7 Let $\Omega = (\alpha, \beta) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded interval, $F \in C^1([\alpha, \beta])$ satisfying (H2)-(H3). Assume F decreasing, F(x) < 0 for each $x \in (\alpha, \beta]$, $F(\alpha) = 0$ and such that

$$\forall x \in \Omega_1, \ \exists \ \overline{t} > 0 : x \notin \varphi(\overline{t}, \Omega).$$

Moreover, let $h = -\lambda F'$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

Then, for the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ on $L^p(\Omega)$ the following are equivalent.

- (i) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable.
- (ii) $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is not hypercyclic.

(iii)
$$\lambda \leq -\frac{1}{p}$$

Proof. Observe that $\rho=1$ is p-admissible for F and h by Lemma 1.3.4. If $\lambda=-\frac{1}{p}$, then clearly the semigroup is stable and not hypercyclic. Then assume that $\lambda\neq-\frac{1}{p}$.

First observe that for every $y, z \in (\alpha, \beta)$

$$\int_{y}^{z} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p}F'(s)}{F(s)} ds = -\left(\lambda + \frac{1}{p}\right) \log \frac{F(z)}{F(y)}.$$

In particular, it follows that for every $z \in (\alpha, \beta)$

$$\exists \lim_{y \to \alpha} \int_{y}^{z} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p}F'(s)}{F(s)} ds = -\left(\lambda + \frac{1}{p}\right) (+\infty)$$

thus $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is hypercyclic if and only if $\lambda > -\frac{1}{p}$.

On the other hand, $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable if and only if there exists C > 0 such that

$$\forall x \in (\alpha, \beta), \ \forall t > 0: \quad \int_{x}^{\varphi(t, x)} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p} F'(s)}{F(s)} ds \le C,$$

that is

$$\forall x \in (\alpha, \beta), \ \forall t > 0: \ -\left(\lambda + \frac{1}{p}\right) \log \frac{F(\varphi(t, x))}{F(x)} \le C.$$

Being F < 0 in (α, β) , we have that $\varphi(\cdot, x)$ is strictly decreasing, hence $\varphi(t, x) < x$ for every t > 0. Hence, since F is decreasing,

$$\forall x \in (\alpha, \beta), \ t > 0: \quad \frac{F(\varphi(t, x))}{F(x)} \le 1.$$

Thus, if $\lambda < -\frac{1}{p}$, then

$$\forall x \in (\alpha, \beta), \ \forall t > 0: \ -\left(\lambda + \frac{1}{p}\right) \log \frac{F(\varphi(t, x))}{F(x)} \le 0,$$

and so $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ is stable.

Remark 2.3.8 Of course it is possible to characterize stability for $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ in case of F being strictly positive, taking into account that φ would be increasing. In this case, we only need to change condition (iii) by $\lambda \geq -\frac{1}{p}$.

2.4 Stability on Sobolev spaces

From now on, we are able to use our results in order to show similar characterization of stability on Sobolev spaces.

Let I = (a, b) be a bounded interval in \mathbb{R} and, as we saw in section 0.1, let $W^{1,p}(I)$ the first order Sobolev space of p-integrable functions on I, where $1 \leq p < \infty$.

We will use several results following the argumentation part of Sobolev spaces on Chapter 1. More precisely, we need to use Lemma 1.3.2 and Proposition 1.3.3 to transfer the dynamical properties for the standard described C_0 -semigroup from $L^p(I)$ on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$. Finally we use Propositions 1.3.8 and 1.3.9 to see that actually we need to prove stability only for the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{S}_{F,h(q)}$.

As commented, we only need to prove stability behaviour of the C_0 -semigroup $S_{F,h(a)}$ and assume the previous results to generalize this ones for $S_{F,h}$ by using the comparison test.

Theorem 2.4.1 Let I=(a,b) be a bounded interval, $1 \le p < \infty$, F with F(a)=0 and $F(x) \ne 0$ in]a,b[and satisfying (H2), (H3), $h \in W^{1,\infty}(I)$. Assume that the function $[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}, y \mapsto \frac{h(y)-h(a)}{F(y)}$ belongs to $L^{\infty}(I)$. The following hold

- (1) If $\varphi(t, I) = I$ for every t > 0, then t.f.a.e.:
 - (i) $S_{F,h}$ is stable on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$;
 - (ii) It hold,
 - (a) there exists $C \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(a) - \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) F'(s)}{F(s)} ds \le C \quad a.e. \ y \in I, \ t \ge 0;$$

(b) for every $y \in I$

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(a) - \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) F'(s)}{F(s)} ds = -\infty.$$

(2) If

$$\forall x \in I \; \exists \; \overline{t} > 0 \qquad x \notin \varphi(\overline{t}, I)$$

 $then\ t.f.a.e.:$

- (i) $S_{F,h}$ is stable on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$;
- (ii) there exists $C \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(a) - \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) F'(s)}{F(s)} ds \le C \quad a.e. \ y \in I, \ t \ge 0.$$

Moreover, $S_{F,h}$ is stable on $W^{1,p}(I)$ if and only if it is stable on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ and h(a) < 0.

Proof. As we have previously discussed and by Proposition 1.3.9 we know that the C_0 -semigroups $S_{F,h(a)}$ and $S_{F,h}$ are conjugate.

Moreover the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)}$ on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ is conjugate to $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+h(a)}$ on $L^p(I)$ by Proposition 1.3.3.

Thus, $S_{F,h}$ is stable on $W_*^{1,p}(I)$ if and only if $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+h(a)}$ is stable on $L^p(I)$.

A short calculation shows that $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+h(a)}$ is stable on $L^p(I)$ if and only if the condition (ii) holds. In fact, for $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+h(a)}$ observe that $h_t(x) = e^{th(a)} \partial_2 \varphi(t,x)$ and $\rho(x) = 1$ is p-admissible for F and F' + h(a) with M = 1 and $w = ph(a) + (p-1)||F'||_{\infty}$. Depending on the behavior of $\varphi(t,\Omega)$ for $t \geq 0$, the proof on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ is over if we replace h by F' + h(a) in the conditions of Theorem 2.3.6.

Observe that $W^{1,p}(I) = W^{1,p}_*(I) \oplus \operatorname{span} \{1\}$ and that

$$\mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)} = \mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)}{}_{|W^{1,p}_*(I)} \oplus \mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)}{}_{|\mathrm{Span}\,\{\mathbb{1}\}}$$

Thus $S_{F,h(a)}$ is stable if and only if $S_{F,h(a)}$ is stable on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ and on span $\{1\!\!1\}$, i.e., h(a) < 0. In fact, for $\lambda \neq 0$ we have

$$\mathcal{S}_{F,h(a)}(\lambda \mathbb{1}) = e^{h(a)t} \lambda \stackrel{t \to \infty}{\to} 0 \text{ if and only if } h(a) < 0.$$

2.5 The Lasota equation

As in the previous chapter we analyze the Lasota equation showing that our results cover the results described in section 2.1.

2.5.1 von Foerster-Lasota equation

Consider von Foerster-Lasota equation with $I=(0,1),\ F(x)=-x$ and $h\in C(0,1)\cap L^\infty(0,1),$ described by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} u(t,x) + x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} u(t,x) = h(x) \, u(t,x), \quad t \geq 0, \, 0 < x < 1$$

with the initial condition

$$u(0, x) = v(x), \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

where v is a given function. Denote by \mathcal{T}_h the associated C_0 -semigroup on $L^p(0,1)$. For Sobolev spaces we consider $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ and denote by \mathcal{S}_h the resulting C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$, respectively $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.

Theorem 2.5.1

a) Assume that for $h \in C[0,1]$ real valued the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - h(0)}{x}$$

belongs to $L^1(0,1)$. Then the following properties of the associated von Foerster-Lasota semigroup \mathcal{T}_h on $L^p(0,1)$ are equivalent.

- i) \mathcal{T}_h is stable on $L^p(0,1)$.
- *ii*) $h(0) \leq -\frac{1}{n}$.
- b) Assume that for $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ real valued the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - h(0)}{x}$$

belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,1)$. Then the von Foerster-Lasota semigroup \mathcal{S}_h is not stable on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$ and for the restriction of \mathcal{S}_h to $W^{1,p}_*(0,1)$ the following are equivalent.

i) S_h is stable on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.

ii)
$$h(0) \leq 1 - \frac{1}{n}$$
.

Proof. For F(x) = -x we have $\varphi(t, x) = xe^{-t}$ thus, following Remark 2.3.5, for every $x \in (0,1)$ we get for $t > -\log x$ that $x \notin \varphi(t,\Omega)$. We will use an alternative proof without using the comparison test between \mathcal{T}_h and $\mathcal{T}_{h(0)}$.

Proof of part a). We can consider for λ - a.e. $x \in I$ and for all $t \geq 0$,

$$\int_{x}^{xe^{-t}} \frac{h(y) + \frac{1}{p}}{-y} dy = \int_{xe^{-t}}^{x} \frac{h(y) - h(0) + h(0) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy.$$

Since

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - h(0)}{x}$$

belongs to $L^1(0,1)$, we obtain for some constant $K \geq 0$ that

$$\int_{xe^{-t}}^{x} \frac{h(y) - h(0) + h(0) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy \le K + \int_{xe^{-t}}^{x} \frac{h(0) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy.$$

By Theorem 2.3.6-(2), \mathcal{T}_h is stable if and only if there exists $C \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for λ - a.e. $x \in I$ and for all $t \geq 0$

$$\int_{xe^{-t}}^{x} \frac{h(0) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy \le C.$$

Observe that

$$\int_{xe^{-t}}^{x} \frac{h(0) + \frac{1}{p}}{y} dy = \left(h(0) + \frac{1}{p}\right) t.$$

Then \mathcal{T}_h is stable if and only if $h(0) \leq -\frac{1}{n}$.

Proof of part b). It is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.3.7 if we replace h by F' + h(0), if we use Theorem 2.4.1-(2) and the fact that $\mathcal{S}_{F,h}$ is stable on $W^{1,p}_*(I)$ if and only if $\mathcal{T}_{F,F'+h(a)}$ is stable on $L^p(I)$. Arguing as the beginning of case a) we obtain stability for \mathcal{S}_h if and only if

$$h(0) \le -\frac{1-p}{p} = 1 - \frac{1}{p}.$$

Remark 2.5.2 The previous result remains valid for h complex valued if we use Remark 2.2.2. In fact, for $L^p(0,1)$ we only have to replace h(0) by $\operatorname{Re} h(0)$ and for the Sobolev spaces we only need to assume $h(0) \in \mathbb{R}$.

2.5.2 Generalized von Foerster-Lasota equation

Let us consider $I=(0,1),\ h\in C(0,1)\cap L^\infty(0,1)$ and r>1 for the first order partial differential equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(t,x) + x^r \frac{\partial}{\partial x}u(t,x) = h(x) u(t,x), \quad t \ge 0, \ 0 < x < 1$$

with the initial condition

$$u(0,x) = v(x), \quad 0 < x < 1,$$

where v is a given function. As for $F(x) = -x^r$ recall that

$$\varphi(t,x) = ((r-1)t + x^{1-r})^{\frac{1}{1-r}}$$

Denote by $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ the C_0 -semigroup on $L^p(0,1)$. For Sobolev spaces we consider $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ and let $\mathcal{S}_{r,h}$ be the C_0 -semigroup on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$ and on $W^{1,p}_*(0,1)$.

Theorem 2.5.3

a) Assume that for $h \in C[0,1]$ real valued the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - x^{r-1}h(0)}{x^r}$$

belongs to $L^1(0,1)$. Then the following properties of $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ on $L^p(0,1)$ are equivalent.

- i) $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is stable.
- $ii) \ h(0) \leq \frac{-r}{p}.$
- b) Assume that for $h \in W^{1,\infty}(0,1)$ real valued the function

$$[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad x \mapsto \frac{h(x) - h(0)}{x^r}$$

belongs to $L^{\infty}(0,1)$. Then the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{S}_{r,h}$ is not stable on $W^{1,p}(0,1)$. For the restriction of $\mathcal{S}_{r,h}$ to $W^{1,p}_*(0,1)$ the following are equivalent.

- i) $S_{r,h}$ is stable on $W_*^{1,p}(0,1)$.
- *ii*) h(0) < 0.

Proof. Recall that
$$F(x) = -x^r$$
 thus, $\varphi(t, x) = ((r-1)t + x^{1-r})^{\frac{1}{1-r}}$ and $\forall t \ge 0, x \in (0, 1]:$ $\partial_2 \varphi(t, x) = x^{-r}((r-1)t + x^{1-r})^{\frac{r}{1-r}}$

The proofs are similar to those of the previous example. In fact, observe that for all $x \in I$ choosing $\bar{t} > \frac{x^{1-r}-1}{r-1}$ we have $x \notin \varphi(\bar{t},(0,1)) = (0,x)$. By using Theorem 2.3.6-(2) and Theorem 2.4.1-(2) we finish the proofs of a) and b) respectively. In fact, for the proof of part a) since $[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$, $x \mapsto \frac{h(x)-x^{r-1}h(0)}{x^r}$ belongs to $L^1(0,1)$, if we denote by K its norm, we obtain for $y \in (0,1)$ and $t \ge 0$

$$\int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(s) - \frac{1}{p}F'(s)}{F(s)} ds = \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{h(s) + \frac{r}{p}s^{r-1}}{s^{r}} ds$$

$$= \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{h(s) + s^{r-1}h(0)}{s^{r}} ds + \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{h(0) + \frac{r}{p}}{s} ds$$

$$\leq K + \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{h(0) + \frac{r}{p}}{s} ds$$

$$= K + \left(h(0) + \frac{r}{p}\right) \log\left(\frac{y}{\varphi(t,y)}\right)$$

$$= K + \frac{1}{r-1} \left(h(0) + \frac{r}{p}\right) \log\left(1 + (r-1)ty^{r-1}\right)$$

Then $\mathcal{T}_{r,h}$ is stable on $L^p(0,1)$ if and only if $\left(h(0) + \frac{r}{p}\right) \leq 0$, by Theorem 2.3.6-(2). It only remains to prove part b) using Theorem 2.4.1-(2).

$$\begin{split} \int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(0) - \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) F'(s)}{F(s)} ds &= \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{h(0) + \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) r s^{r-1}}{s^{r}} ds \\ &= \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{h(0)}{s^{r}} ds + \int_{\varphi(t,y)}^{y} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) r}{s} ds \\ &= -\frac{h(0)}{r-1} \left(y^{1-r} - \varphi(t,y)^{1-r}\right) + \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) r \log \left(\frac{y}{\varphi(t,y)}\right). \end{split}$$

Since $p \ge 1$, r > 1, and $\frac{y}{\varphi(t,y)} = (1 + (r-1)ty^{r-1})^{\frac{1}{r-1}}$ we have for some C > 0

$$\left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) r \log \left(\frac{y}{\varphi(t, y)}\right) \le 0 < C,$$

then

$$\int_{y}^{\varphi(t,y)} \frac{h(0) - \left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) F'(s)}{F(s)} ds \le -\frac{h(0)}{r - 1} \left(y^{1 - r} - \varphi(t, y)^{1 - r}\right) + C$$
$$= h(0)t + C.$$

Finally, $S_{r,h}$ is stable on $W^{1,p}_*(0,1)$ if and only if $h(0) \le 0$, by Theorem 2.4.1-(2). Of course, $S_{r,h}$ is stable in $W^{1,p}$ if and only if h(0) < 0 by the same Theorem.

As the previous chapter this equation is of interest to compare our results by the previous one given by Dawidowicz and Poskrobko in [36]. As expected, we obtain a complementary behaviour between chaos and stability as is the case of the the equation for r=1. In contrast, there are no difference like chaotic and hypercyclic properties.

Open Problem 2.5.4 We mentioned the duality about stability and chaotic behaviour of the semigroups $\mathcal{T}_{F,h}$ in this Chapter, for example Lasota equation on (0,1). Are there other semiflow semigroups for which this duality hold?

Chapter 3

Chaotic behaviour of birth-and-death models

In the last chapter of the thesis we will focus on the models of kinetic theory as is the case of the birth-and-death models. Azmy and Protopopescu studied these processes for the first time [58]. Later, the subject was intensively studied by Banasiak, Lachowicz and Moszyński.

During recent years, the birth-and-death models with proliferation have been of interest for their applications in biomedicine, for instance the behaviour of evolution of cancer cells and the drug-resistance of these cells [7, 9, 11].

We will show some new results for the joined birth-and-death model. More precisely, we will study this model for the case of non-constant coefficients, and we give conditions under which there is chaotic behaviour on an infinite-dimensional subspace. These results generalize in part previous ones obtained by Banasiak and Moszyński in [11].

As in previous chapters, we will show an evolution of the main known results related with these models in order to show the improvement achieved. Obviously these models are not governed by the same kind of semigroups used in the previous chapters.

The contents of this chapter were published in [5].

3.1 State of the art

The main purpose of this section is to present some results related to chaos for the evolution of birth-and-death type models with proliferation discussed in [7, 11, 44, 58].

Following the description in [11], we consider a population of cells divided into subpopulations characterized by a different number of copies of a certain gene in a cell. The integer n can be viewed as the number of copies of a drug-resistant gene in the nth subpopulation of cells. The bird-and-death model is characterized by two components described by the coefficients b_n and d_n , the first one describes the number of shifts by mutations from the nth subpopulation to the n+1th one, in unit time, per one cell of the nth subpopulation, the second one describes the same fact but from the nth subpopulation to the n-1th one. There is another coefficient in this model that we denote by a_n and it depends on the previous two ones and on the cell proliferation process (rate of cell division). We suppose that the coefficients of this model are time independent. The problem for time-dependent coefficients is currently an open problem but there are results in this sense, see for example [6].

In this section, we denote $\mathbf{f} = (f_n)_{n \geq 0} \in \ell^p$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, with its norm $\|\mathbf{f}\|_p = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |f_n|^p\right)^{1/p}$.

 $f_n(t)$ represents the number of cells in the nth subpopulation at the time $t \geq 0$.

Before beginning we must emphasize that the birth-and-death model can be separated in death and birth part of the process. If $b_n = 0$ we have the death part and, as expected, the birth part is obtained if $d_n = 0$. We are interested in the whole process with death and birth parts, but we will give a description of death part. The birth part is not of our interest since no chaotic properties are possible in this case, see for example [7].

3.1.1 Death model with variable coefficients

In [58], the authors studied the death part of the birth-and-death process. Following the same line, but allowing variable coefficients, Banasiak and Lachowicz [7] considered the following system of equations:

$$\frac{df_n}{dt} = (\mathcal{L}f)_n = -\alpha_n f_n + \beta_n f_{n+1}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$
(3.1)

where the coefficients α_n and β_n satisfy $0 < \alpha_n < \beta_n$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and there are parameters $(a'_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ such that

(A1)
$$\alpha_n = \alpha + a'_n$$
, for some $\alpha \ge 0$ and with $\lim_{n \to \infty} a'_n = 0$;
(A2) $\beta_n = \beta b_n$, for some $\beta > \alpha$ and with $\lim_{n \to \infty} b_n = 1$. (3.2)

The main result in [7] about chaotic behaviour of this model is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1.1 Suppose that the sequences $\{\alpha_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}_0}$ and $\{\beta_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}_0}$ satisfy the assumptions (3.2), and exists q<1 such that $|a'_k/\beta|\leq q^{k+1}$ for $k\in\mathbb{N}_0$. Then the C_0 -semigroup generated by the operator associated with \mathcal{L} in (3.1) is chaotic on any ℓ^p , $1\leq p<\infty$, and on c_0 .

In [44, Chapter 7], the above result was improved:

Proposition 3.1.2 Let $\alpha_n, \beta_n \in]0, +\infty[$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be bounded sequences such that

$$\alpha := \sup_{k} \alpha_k < \beta := \liminf_{k} \beta_k. \tag{3.3}$$

Then the solution C_0 -semigroup generated by the operator associated with \mathcal{L} in (3.1) is chaotic and topologically mixing on ℓ^p .

3.1.2 Birth-and-death model with constant coefficients

A first approach of the whole process was studied by Banasiak and Moszyński in [11], in this case the model was presented with constant coefficients as follows:

$$\frac{df_1}{dt} = (\mathcal{L}f)_1 = af_1 + df_2,
\frac{df_n}{dt} = (\mathcal{L}f)_n = bf_{n-1} + af_n + df_{n+1}, \quad n \ge 2.$$
(3.4)

The main result concerning chaos in [11] is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1.3 We suppose $a, b, d \in \mathbb{R}$. If 0 < |b| < |d| and |a| < |b+d|, then the C_0 -semigroup generated by the operator associated with \mathcal{L} in (3.4) is chaotic on ℓ^p .

Remark 3.1.4 As shown by Banasiak et al. [11], with a slight change in the coefficients we lose ownership of chaos. In fact, the model is not chaotic if |d| < |b| or if p = 1 and $|d| \le |b|$.

Stability properties of this model were demonstrated for a dense subset of ℓ^1 provided that $a, b, d \in \mathbb{R}$ with $b, d \neq 0$ and one of the following two conditions:

(1)
$$a < -(|b| + |d|)$$
, and

$$(2) \ -(|b|+|d|) \leq a < -2\sqrt{|b||d|} \text{ and } a < -2|b|.$$

In particular the assertion holds if

$$a < -2\sqrt{|b||d|}$$
 and $0 < |b| \le |d|$.

3.1.3 Birth-and-death model with variable coefficients

Let us consider the previous problem with variable coefficients.

$$\frac{df_1}{dt} = a_1 f_1 + d_1 f_2,
\frac{df_n}{dt} = b_n f_{n-1} + a_n f_n + d_n f_{n+1}, \quad n \ge 2,$$
(3.5)

with $a_n, b_n, d_n \in \mathbb{R}$ and the infinite matrix

$$\mathcal{L} = \begin{pmatrix}
a_1 & d_1 \\
b_2 & a_2 & d_2 \\
& b_3 & a_3 & d_3 \\
& & b_4 & a_4 & \ddots \\
& & \ddots & \ddots
\end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.6)

In [8], Banasiak, Lachowicz and Moszyński gave conditions under which the maximal operator L_{max} on ℓ^p associated with \mathcal{L} generates a C_0 -semigroup, and in [9] they obtained conditions for sub-chaos by proving the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1.5 Suppose that there exists $N_0 \ge 2$ such that

$$\begin{array}{l} a_n = a(n-1) + \alpha, \ d_n = d(n-1) + \delta, \ b_n = b(n-1) + \beta, \ for \ n \geq N_0, \\ with \ a = -(b+d), \ b, d \geq 0, \ \alpha, \beta, \delta \in \mathbb{R} \end{array} \eqno(3.7)$$

holds with d > b and $\alpha + \beta + \delta - \frac{d-b}{p} > 0$. Then the C_0 -semigroup generated by the maximal operator L_{max} on ℓ^p associated with \mathcal{L} in (3.6) is sub-chaotic.

Remark 3.1.6 Consider the coefficients with the property (3.7). If either of the following two cases hold, b > d or $d_{m_0} = 0$ for some $m_0 \ge 1$, then the C_0 -semigroup generated by the maximal operator L_{max} on ℓ^p is not chaotic. We refer to [8, Theorem 3.6] for its proof.

3.2 Birth-and-death models with variable coefficients: general approach

In this section we intend to obtain sub-chaos results for birth-and-death type models with proliferation in a wide range of variable coefficients. We consider the model given in (3.5), and we assume that $d_n \neq 0$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

The first aspect to consider is the Banach space on which the operator associated with \mathcal{L} according to (3.6) generates a C_0 -semigroup. Given $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\gamma > 0$ we consider the space $X(\gamma)$ defined as follows:

$$X(\gamma):=\{f\in\ell^p\ :\ \mathcal{L}^nf\in\ell^p,\ \forall n\in\mathbb{N},\ \mathrm{and}\ \|f\|:=\sum_{n=0}^\infty\|\mathcal{L}^nf\|_p\,\gamma^{-n}<\infty\},$$

The space $X(\gamma)$ might seem a bit artificial but it can be continuously embedded in ℓ^p . At this point, it is important to clarify that, if the sequences $(a_n)_n$, $(b_n)_n$ and $(d_n)_n$ are bounded, \mathcal{L} has an associated bounded operator S_p on ℓ^p , with spectral radius $r(S_p) < \infty$, and $X(\gamma) = \ell^p$ for $\gamma > r(S_p)$. If any of the sequences $(a_n)_n$, $(b_n)_n$ or $(d_n)_n$ are unbounded, we have that the operator $S_{X(\gamma)}$ associated with \mathcal{L} is a bounded operator on $X(\gamma)$ and, therefore, it generates a C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{X(\gamma)}$ on $X(\gamma)$. As we will see later, a suitable selection of γ will allow us to obtain that the formal eigenvectors of \mathcal{L} , associated to their corresponding eigenvalues in a certain open subset of \mathbb{C} , belong to $X(\gamma)$.

Lemma 3.2.1 Let $1 \le p < \infty$ and $\gamma > 0$. Then $X(\gamma)$ is a Banach space.

Proof. Indeed, if $(f(k))_k$ is a Cauchy sequence in $X(\gamma)$, given an arbitrary $\varepsilon > 0$ we find $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ with $||f(k) - f(l)|| < \varepsilon/2$ for all $k, l \ge k_0$.

Let $f \in \ell^p$ be such that $f = \lim_n f(n)$. Since $(\|f(k)\|)_k$ is a bounded sequence, we get by the definition of $\|\cdot\|$ that $\mathcal{L}^n f \in \ell^p$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and that $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|\mathcal{L}^n f\|_p \gamma^{-n} < \infty$. That is, $f \in X(\gamma)$.

Moreover, by passing to the limit, $||f_k - f|| \le \varepsilon/2 < \varepsilon$ for all $k \ge k_0$.

To prove our main result for this model, we need several technical results. A holomorphic selection of eigenvectors of $S_{X(\gamma)}$ will be found. Suppose, in this section, that $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ denotes an eigenvalue of $S_{X(\gamma)}$ and $\mathbf{f} = (f_n)_{n \geq 1} \in X(\gamma)$ is an associated eigenvector. Then it satisfies

$$f_2 = \frac{\lambda - a_1}{d_1} f_1, \ b_n f_{n-1} + (a_n - \lambda) f_n + d_n f_{n+1} = 0, \quad n \ge 2.$$
 (3.8)

We fix $f_1 \neq 0$, $f_2 = ((\lambda - a_1)/d_1)f_1$, and

$$f_{n+1} = \frac{\lambda - a_n}{d_n} f_n - \frac{b_n}{d_n} f_{n-1}, \quad n \ge 2.$$
 (3.9)

We rewrite the above equation as

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_n \\ f_{n+1} \end{pmatrix} = A_n \begin{pmatrix} f_{n-1} \\ f_n \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.10}$$

where

$$A_n = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ -\frac{b_n}{d_n} & \frac{\lambda - a_n}{d_n} \end{array} \right).$$

Observe that equation (3.10) is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_n \\ f_{n+1} \end{pmatrix} = [A_n \dots A_2] \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.11}$$

We want to find conditions under which $\sum_{n\geq 2}\|A_n\dots A_2\|<\infty$. To do this, we consider the characteristic polynomial $p_{n,\lambda}(z)=d_nz^2+(a_n-\lambda)z+b_n$ of A_n . Let $z_n^+:\mathbb{C}\to\mathbb{C}$ and $z_n^-:\mathbb{C}\to\mathbb{C}$ be two (non-necessarily continuous) maps such that $p_{n,\lambda}(z)=(z-z_n^+(\lambda))\cdot(z-z_n^-(\lambda))$ for each $\lambda\in\mathbb{C}$. That is, $z_n^+(\lambda)$ and $z_n^-(\lambda)$ are the (non-necessarily different) roots of $p_{n,\lambda}(z)=0$. If the discriminant is non-zero, i.e. if $(a_n-\lambda)^2\neq 4d_nb_n$, then the roots are simple and we can decompose A_n as $A_n=P_nD_nP_n^{-1}$ where,

$$P_n = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ z_n^+(\lambda) & z_n^-(\lambda) \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } D_n = \begin{pmatrix} z_n^+(\lambda) & 0 \\ 0 & z_n^-(\lambda) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.12)

A basic reasonable assumption is that $\lim_{n\to\infty} z_n^{\pm}(\lambda) = z^{\pm}(\lambda)$ with $z^{+}(\lambda) \neq z^{-}(\lambda)$. That is, $\lim_{n\to\infty} P_n = P$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} P_n^{-1} = P^{-1}$ with

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ z^+(\lambda) & z^-(\lambda) \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } P^{-1} = \frac{1}{z^-(\lambda) - z^+(\lambda)} \begin{pmatrix} z^-(\lambda) & -1 \\ -z^+(\lambda) & 1 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (3.13)$$

We are interested in the case when $0 < |z^{\pm}(\lambda)| < 1$.

Lemma 3.2.2 Assume $\lim_{n\to\infty} z_n^{\pm}(\lambda) = z^{\pm}(\lambda)$ with $|z^{\pm}(\lambda)| < 1$ and $z^{-}(\lambda) \neq z^{+}(\lambda)$. Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 2} \|A_n \cdots A_2\| < +\infty.$$

Consequently, if moreover $\mathcal{L}\mathbf{f} = \lambda \mathbf{f}$ and $|\lambda| < \gamma$, then $\mathbf{f} \in X(\gamma)$.

Proof. We fix $\delta>0$ and $n_0\in\mathbb{N}$ such that $0<|z_n^\pm(\lambda)|<\delta<1$ and $|z_n^+(\lambda)-z_n^-(\lambda)|>1-\delta$ for all $n\geq n_0$. By assumption, $(P_n)_n$ and $(P_n^{-1})_n$ converge to P and P^{-1} , respectively. This implies that there exists M>0 such that $\|P_m\|< M$ and $\|P_m^{-1}\|< M$, for all $m\geq n_0$. Let $R>\delta^2/(1-\delta)$ and $n_1\geq n_0$ such that $\|P_{m+1}^{-1}P_m-I\|<\delta/R$ for every $m\geq n_1$. Thus $\|P_{m+1}^{-1}P_m\|<1+(\delta/R)<(1/\delta)$ for $m\geq n_1$. Finally, if we denote by $N=\|A_{n_1-1}\cdots A_2\|$ and $\delta_1:=(\delta+\delta^2/R)<1$, then we get

$$||A_n \cdots A_2|| \le N||P_n D_n (P_n^{-1} P_{n-1}) D_{n-1} \cdots (P_{n_1+1}^{-1} P_{n_1}) D_{n_1} P_{n_1}^{-1}||$$

$$\le N||P_n|| ||P_{n_1}^{-1}|| \left(\prod_{m=n_1}^n ||D_m||\right) \left(\prod_{m=n_1}^{n-1} ||P_{m+1}^{-1} P_m||\right)$$

$$< M^2 N \delta^{n-n_1} \left(1 + \frac{\delta}{R}\right)^{n-n_1}$$

$$= M^2 N \delta_1^{n-n_1},$$

for any $n > n_1$, which yields the result. Finally, if $f \in \ell^p$ satisfies $\mathcal{L}f = \lambda f$ with $|\lambda| < \gamma$, then $\mathcal{L}^n f = \lambda^n f \in \ell^p$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and $||f|| < \infty$. That is, $f \in X(\gamma)$. \square

We are in condition to prove our main results. First, we present a version for bounded coefficients.

Theorem 3.2.3 Let (a_n) , $(b_n)_n$ and $(d_n)_n$ be sequences of real numbers such that $d_n \neq 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, and $\gamma > 0$. Assume that, $\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n = a$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} b_n = b$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} d_n = d \neq 0$, with |b| < |d| and |a| < |b+d|.

Then the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{X(\gamma)}$ is sub-chaotic on $X(\gamma)$. Moreover, S_p generates a sub-chaotic C_0 -semigroup \mathcal{T}_p on ℓ^p .

Proof. We fix a holomorphic branch ξ of the square root defined on the open set $\mathcal{V}:=\mathbb{C}\setminus i[0,+\infty[$. Provided that $(a-\lambda)^2-4db\in\mathcal{V}$ and $(a_n-\lambda)^2-4d_nb_n\in\mathcal{V}$, we set $z^+(\lambda)=(-a+\lambda+\xi((a-\lambda)^2-4db))/2d$, $z^-(\lambda)=(-a+\lambda-\xi((a-\lambda)^2-4db))/2d$, $z^+(\lambda)=(-a_n+\lambda+\xi((a_n-\lambda)^2-4d_nb_n))/2d_n$, and $z^-_n(\lambda)=(-a_n+\lambda-\xi((a_n-\lambda)^2-4d_nb_n))/2d_n$. If $a^2-4db\neq 0$, there exist a neighbourhood \mathcal{W} of 0 and $n_0\in\mathbb{N}$ such that $z^+(\lambda)$, $z^-(\lambda)$, $z^+_n(\lambda)$ and $z^-_n(\lambda)$ are well defined for any $n\geq n_0$ and for all $\lambda\in\mathcal{W}$. In particular, $z^+(\lambda)$ and $z^-(\lambda)$ are different roots of $dz^2+(a-\lambda)z+b=0$. An application of Lemma 0.5.3 for $w=(a-\lambda)/d$ and r=b/d yields that, if |b|<|d| and |a|<|b+d|, then $|z^\pm(\lambda)|<1$ for any λ in a sufficiently small open ball $\mathcal{U}\subset B(0,\gamma)$.

If $a^2 = 4db$, then we can pick $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathcal{U} = B(\varepsilon i, \delta)$ for sufficiently small $\varepsilon, \delta > 0$ such that $\mathcal{U} \subset B(0, \gamma)$, $(a - \lambda)^2 - 4db \in \mathcal{V}$, $(a_n - \lambda)^2 - 4d_n b_n \in \mathcal{V}$, and $|z^{\pm}(\lambda)| < 1$ for all $\lambda \in \mathcal{U}$ and for each $n \geq n_0$.

We clearly have $\lim_n z_n^+(\lambda) = z^+(\lambda)$ and $\lim_n z_n^-(\lambda) = z^-(\lambda)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathcal{U}$,

We set $f(\lambda)$ as the eigenvector of \mathcal{L} to the eigenvalue λ constructed accordingly to (3.9), where $f_1 \neq 0$ is fixed (and does not depend on λ). By Lemma 3.2.2, $f(\lambda) \in X(\gamma)$ for every $\lambda \in \mathcal{U}$. The recurrent construction of the coordinates of $f(\lambda)$ shows that each of them is a polynomial on λ . Moreover, if $\phi \in (\ell^p)^* = \ell^q$, the following estimates are satisfied:

$$|\langle f(\lambda), \phi \rangle - \langle (f_1(\lambda), \dots, f_k(\lambda), 0, \dots), \phi \rangle| \leq \sum_{n > k} ||A_n \dots A_2|| ||(f_1, f_2(\lambda))||_p ||\phi||_q$$

and $f:\mathcal{U}\to\ell^p$ is weakly holomorphic, therefore, holomorphic. That is, there exists

$$f'(\lambda) := \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{f(\lambda + z) - f(\lambda)}{z} \in \ell^p, \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathcal{U}.$$

We have seen some definitions and facts about this topic on subsection 0.1.3, we refer to [40] for more details. Also, it is easy to see that $\mathcal{L}^n f'(\lambda) = n\lambda^{n-1} f(\lambda) + \lambda^n f'(\lambda)$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, $f'(\lambda) \in X(\gamma)$ since $\|\mathcal{L}^n f'(\lambda)\|_p \gamma^{-n} \le \|f(\lambda)\|_p n|\lambda|^{n-1} \gamma^{-n} + \|f'(\lambda)\|_p \lambda|^n \gamma^{-n}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $\lambda \in \mathcal{U}$. Moreover, $f: \mathcal{U} \to X(\gamma)$ is holomorphic since

$$\begin{split} & \left\| f'(\lambda) - \frac{f(\lambda+z) - f(\lambda)}{z} \right\| \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left\| n\lambda^{n-1} f(\lambda) + \lambda^n f'(\lambda) - \frac{(\lambda+z)^n f(\lambda+z) - \lambda^n f(\lambda)}{z} \right\|_p \gamma^{-n} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left\| n\lambda^{n-1} f(\lambda) + \lambda^n f'(\lambda) - (\lambda+z)^n \frac{f(\lambda+z) - f(\lambda)}{z} - \frac{(\lambda+z)^n - \lambda^n}{z} f(\lambda) \right\|_p \gamma^{-n} \\ &\leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left| n\lambda^{n-1} - \frac{(\lambda+z)^n - \lambda^n}{z} \right| \left\| f(\lambda) \right\|_p \gamma^{-n} \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left\| \lambda^n f'(\lambda) - (\lambda+z)^n \frac{f(\lambda+z) - f(\lambda)}{z} \right\|_p \gamma^{-n} \xrightarrow{z \to 0} 0. \end{split}$$

Now the assertion follows from Proposition 0.3.9.

Based upon the above result, we are now able to prove a version of the previous theorem for unbounded coefficients.

Theorem 3.2.4 Let (a_n) , $(b_n)_n$ and $(d_n)_n$ be sequences of real numbers such that $d_n \neq 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, and $\gamma > 0$. Assume that $\lim_{n \to \infty} (a_n/d_n) = \alpha$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} (b_n/d_n) = \beta$, $\lim_{n \to \infty} d_n = \infty$, with $\alpha^2 \neq 4\beta$, $|\beta| < 1$ and $|\alpha| < |1 + \beta|$.

Then the C_0 -semigroup $\mathcal{T}_{X(\gamma)}$ is sub-chaotic on $X(\gamma)$.

Proof. Here, we set $z^+(\lambda) = (-\alpha + \xi(\alpha^2 - 4\beta))/2$, $z^-(\lambda) = (-\alpha - \xi(\alpha^2 - 4\beta))/2$, which are well defined since $\alpha^2 - 4\beta \in \mathcal{V}$, and $z_n^+(\lambda)$, $z_n^-(\lambda)$ as in Theorem 3.2.3. Since $z^\pm(\lambda)$ do not depend on λ , if we select $\mathcal{U} := B(0,\gamma)$ and apply again Lemma 0.5.3 with $w = \alpha$ and $r = \beta$, then $|z^\pm(\lambda)| < 1$ since $|\beta| < 1$ and $|\alpha| < |1 + \beta|$. We follow the reasoning of the Theorem 3.2.3 to conclude the result.

Open Problem 3.2.5 The Banach space considered in this chapter was constructed on purpose to ensure the generation of a norm continuous semigroup and to obtain sub-chaos. It would be interesting to study whether there exists chaos on the whole space for these models, that is, when the semigroup is not uniformly continuous.

Is it possible to give an explicit expression of the C_0 -semigroup for the birth-and-death model with proliferation on the whole space?

Whatever the answer is, it could help to give conditions under which the C_0 -semigroup is chaotic instead of sub-chaotic.

Finally, in case of success, we can improve these kind of models by assuming time dependent coefficients similar to the previous work of Banasiak in [6].

Bibliography

- [1] Albanese, A. A., Barrachina, X., Mangino, E. M., and Peris, A. Distributional chaos for strongly continuous semigroups of operators. *Communications on Pure and Applied Analysis* 12, 5 (2013), 2069–2082.
- [2] AMANN, H. Ordinary differential equations, vol. 13 of de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1990. An introduction to nonlinear analysis, Translated from the German by Gerhard Metzen.
- [3] AROZA, J., KALMES, T., AND MANGINO, E. Chaotic C₀-semigroups induced by semiflows in Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications* 412, 1 (2014), 77 98.
- [4] Aroza, J., and Mangino, E. Stability flow semigroups in Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces. *Preprint* (2015).
- [5] AROZA, J., AND PERIS, A. Chaotic behaviour of birth-and-death models with proliferation. *Journal of Difference Equations and Applications* 18, 4 (2012), 647–655.
- [6] BANASIAK, J. Birth-and-death type systems with parameter and chaotic dynamics of some linear kinetic models. Z. Anal. Anwendungen 24, 4 (2005), 675–690.
- [7] Banasiak, J., and Lachowicz, M. Chaos for a class of linear kinetic models. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Série II 329 (2001), 439–444.
- [8] Banasiak, J., Lachowicz, M., and Moszyński, M. Semigroups for generalized birth-and-death equations in l^p spaces. Semigroup Forum 73, 2 (2006), 175–193.
- Banasiak, J., Lachowicz, M., and Moszyński, M. Chaotic behavior of semigroups related to the process of gene amplification-deamplification with cell proliferation. *Math. Biosci.* 206, 2 (2007), 200–215.

[10] Banasiak, J., and Moszyński, M. A generalization of Desch-Schappacher-Webb criteria for chaos. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.* 12, 5 (2005), 959–972.

- [11] Banasiak, J., and Moszyński, M. Dynamics of birth-and-death processes with proliferation stability and chaos. *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems* 29, 1 (2011), 67–79.
- [12] Banks, J., Brooks, J., Cairns, G., Davis, G., and Stacey, P. On Devaney's definition of chaos. *Amer. Math. Monthly 99*, 4 (1992), 332–334.
- [13] BARRACHINA, X., AND PERIS, A. Distributionally chaotic translation semi-groups. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 18, 4 (2012), 751–761.
- [14] BAYART, F., AND GRIVAUX, S. Hypercyclicité: le rôle du spectre ponctuel unimodulaire. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 338, 9 (2004), 703–708.
- [15] BAYART, F., AND GRIVAUX, S. Frequently hypercyclic operators. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 358, 11 (2006), 5083–5117 (electronic).
- [16] BAYART, F., AND GRIVAUX, S. Invariant Gaussian measures for operators on Banach spaces and linear dynamics. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 94, 1 (2007), 181–210.
- [17] BAYART, F., AND MATHERON, É. *Dynamics of Linear Operators*, first ed., vol. 179 of *Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- [18] Beauzamy, B. An operator on a separable Hilbert space with many hypercyclic vectors. *Studia Math.* 87, 1 (1987), 71–78.
- [19] Bermúdez, T., Bonilla, A., Conejero, J. A., and Peris, A. Hypercyclic, topologically mixing and chaotic semigroups on Banach spaces. *Studia Math.* 170, 1 (2005), 57–75.
- [20] Bermúdez, T., Bonilla, A., and Peris, A. On hypercyclicity and supercyclicity criteria. *Bull. Austral. Math. Soc.* 70, 1 (2004), 45–54.
- [21] Bès, J. Dynamics of weighted composition operators. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 8, 1 (2014), 159–176.
- [22] Bès, J., and Conejero, J. A. An extension of hypercyclicity for N-linear operators. Abstr. Appl. Anal. (2014), Art. ID 609873, 11.
- [23] Bès, J., and Peris, A. Hereditarily hypercyclic operators. *J. Funct. Anal.* 167, 1 (1999), 94–112.

[24] BIRKHOFF, G. D. Surface transformations and their dynamical applications. Acta Math. 43, 1 (1922), 1–119.

- [25] Brezis, H. Functional analysis, Sobolev spaces and partial differential equations. Universitext. Springer, New York, 2011.
- [26] Brzeźniak, Z., and Dawidowicz, A. On the chaotic properties of the von Foerster-Lasota equation. *Semigroup Forum* (2013), 1–13.
- [27] Brzeźniak, Z., and Dawidowicz, A. L. On periodic solutions to the von Foerster-Lasota equation. Semigroup Forum 78, 1 (2009), 118–137.
- [28] CHAN, K. C., AND SHAPIRO, J. H. The cyclic behavior of translation operators on Hilbert spaces of entire functions. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 40, 4 (1991), 1421–1449.
- [29] Chang, Y.-H., and Hong, C.-H. The chaos of the solution semigroup for the quasi-linear Lasota equation. *Taiwanese J. Math.* 16, 5 (2012), 1707–1717.
- [30] CONEJERO, J., AND MANGINO, E. Hypercyclic semigroups generated by Ornstein-Uhlenbeck operators. *Mediterranean Journal of Mathematics* 7, 1 (2010), 101–109.
- [31] Conejero, J. A., and Peris, A. Linear transitivity criteria. *Topology* Appl. 153, 5-6 (2005), 767–773.
- [32] Conejero, J. A., and Peris, A. Chaotic translation semigroups. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. suppl.*, 5 (2007), 269–276.
- [33] CONEJERO, J. A., AND PERIS, A. Hypercyclic translation C_0 -semigroups on complex sectors. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 25, 4 (2009), 1195–1208.
- [34] Costakis, G., and Hadjiloucas, D. Topologically transitive skew-products of backward shift operators and hypercyclicity. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 136, 3 (2008), 937–946 (electronic).
- [35] DAWIDOWICZ, A. L., AND POSKROBKO, A. On chaotic and stable behaviour of the von Foerster-Lasota equation in some Orlicz spaces. *Proc. Est. Acad. Sci.* 57, 2 (2008), 61–69.
- [36] DAWIDOWICZ, A. L., AND POSKROBKO, A. On periodic and stable solutions of the Lasota equation in different phase spaces. *Opuscula Math.* 28, 4 (2008), 453–461.
- [37] DAWIDOWICZ, A. L., AND POSKROBKO, A. Stability and chaotic properties of multidimensional Lasota equation. *Control and Cybernetics* 2, 42 (2013), 387 397.

[38] Desch, W., Schappacher, W., and Webb, G. F. Hypercyclic and chaotic semigroups of linear operators. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems* 17, 4 (1997), 793–819.

- [39] DEVANEY, R. L. An introduction to chaotic dynamical systems, second ed. Addison-Wesley Studies in Nonlinearity. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company Advanced Book Program, Redwood City, CA, 1989.
- [40] Dineen, S. Complex Analysis on Infinite Dimensional Spaces. Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, 1999.
- [41] El Mourchid, S. On a hypercyclicity criterion for strongly continuous semigroups. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.* 13, 2 (2005), 271–275.
- [42] ENGEL, K.-J., AND NAGEL, R. One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations, vol. 194 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000. With contributions by S. Brendle, M. Campiti, T. Hahn, G. Metafune, G. Nickel, D. Pallara, C. Perazzoli, A. Rhandi, S. Romanelli and R. Schnaubelt.
- [43] Godefroy, G., and Shapiro, J. H. Operators with dense, invariant, cyclic vector manifolds. *J. Funct. Anal.* 98, 2 (1991), 229–269.
- [44] GROSSE-ERDMANN, K.-G., AND PERIS MANGUILLOT, A. *Linear chaos*. Berlin: Springer, 2011.
- [45] Kalmes, T. Hypercyclic, mixing, and chaotic C_0 -semigroups induced by semiflows. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 27, 5 (2007), 1599–1631.
- [46] Kalmes, T. Hypercyclic C_0 -semigroups and evolution families generated by first order differential operators. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 137, 11 (2009), 3833–3848.
- [47] Kalmes, T. A remark on the frequent hypercyclicity criterion for weighted composition semigroups and an application to the linear von Foerster-Lasota equation. *ArXiv e-prints: arXiv:1410.7697* (Oct. 2014).
- [48] Kalmes, T. A simple characterization of chaos for weighted composition C₀-semigroups on Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces. *ArXiv e-prints: arXiv:1408.6394* (Aug. 2014).
- [49] LASOTA, A. Stable and chaotic solutions of a first order partial differential equation. *Nonlinear Anal.* 5, 11 (1981), 1181–1193.
- [50] LASOTA, A., MACKEY, M. C., AND WAŻEWSKA-CZYŻEWSKA, M. Minimizing therapeutically induced anemia. J. Math. Biol. 13, 2 (1981/82), 149–158.

[51] Mangino, E. M., and Peris, A. Frequently hypercyclic semigroups. *Studia Math.* 202, 3 (2011), 227–242.

- [52] Martínez-Giménez, F., Oprocha, P., and Peris, A. Distributional chaos for backward shifts. *J. Math. Anal. Appl. 351*, 2 (2009), 607–615.
- [53] Matsui, M., Yamada, M., and Takeo, F. Supercyclic and chaotic translation semigroups. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 131, 11 (2003), 3535–3546 (electronic).
- [54] Matsui, M., Yamada, M., and Takeo, F. Erratum to: "Supercyclic and chaotic translation semigroups" [Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 131 (2003), no. 11, 3535–3546; mr 1991766]. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 132, 12 (2004), 3751–3752 (electronic).
- [55] MIZOHATA, S. *The theory of partial differential equations*. Cambridge University Press, New York, 1973. Translated from the Japanese by Katsumi Miyahara.
- [56] MURILLO-ARCILA, M., AND PERIS, A. Strong mixing measures for linear operators and frequent hypercyclicity. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 398, 2 (2013), 462–465.
- [57] MURILLO-ARCILA, M., AND PERIS, A. Strong mixing measures for C_0 semigroups. Rev. R. Acad. Cienc. Exacts Fis. Nat. Ser. A Math. RACSAM
 109, 1 (2015), 101–115.
- [58] PROTOPOPESCU, V. A., AND AZMY, Y. Y. Topological chaos for a class of linear models. *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.* 2, 1 (1992), 79–90.
- [59] RUDIN, W. Real and complex analysis, third ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1987.
- [60] Rudnicki, R. Chaoticity and invariant measures for a cell population model. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 393, 1 (2012), 151–165.
- [61] Takeo, F. Chaos and hypercyclicity for solution semigroups to chaos and hypercyclicity for solution semigroups to some partial differential equations. *Nonlinear Anal.* 63 (2005), 1943–1953 (electronic).
- [62] TAKEO, F. Chaotic or hypercyclic semigroups on a function space $C_0(I,\mathbb{C})$ or $L^p(I,\mathbb{C})$. SUT J. Math. 41, 1 (2005), 43–61.
- [63] TANABE, H. Equations of evolution. Monographs and Studies in Mathematics; 6. Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program), Boston, Mass., 1979.

